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Founded in 1997, Student Transportation of America is the fifth largest provider of 

school bus transportation services in the United States. With a focus on safety and 

operational excellence, STA has steadily grown by aggregating operations in selected 

rural and suburban markets through the consolidation of existing providers and 

conversion of in-house operations. The company has in excess of 110 contracts with 

school districts in 10 states and one province, and operates a fleet of over 3,300 vehicles.
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We deliver consistent growth.

– Market-leading transportation company  
– Revenue and cash flow growth every year since inception

We focus on excellence in operations.

– Unparalleled focus on safety
– Stable and diversified customer base 
– Highly successful customer retention 

We have a proven strategy.

– Growth through ABC: acquisitions, bids and conversions  
– Unique rural and suburban market franchise
– Financial strength to execute 

We take advantage of market opportunities.

– Strong industry fundamentals
– Positive trends for continued privatization and consolidation

CONSISTENT
GROWTH

EXCELLENCE IN 
OPERATIONS

MARKET
OPPORTUNITIES

PROVEN 
STRATEGY

OUR ROADMAP TO SUCCESS
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10 states plus one province

                           Five regions; 59 terminals

       110 contracts and counting

                             A fleet of more than 3,300 buses

 250,000 passengers a day

GROWTH THROUGHOUT NORTH AMERICA

Since its inception in 1997, STA has successfully acquired and integrated 21 school bus companies, won  
25 new school district contracts and completed six school conversions from public to private provision  
of school bus services. The recent launch of our Canadian operating company brings us to five regions,  
and provides a solid base for growth throughout North America. We continue to have a strong pipeline  
of opportunities for acquisitions and bid-ins and are positioned to increase our density in existing regions, 
enter new markets and continue our steady growth in fiscal 2006. 
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Operating Regions

NEW ENGLAND

Connecticut, New Hampshire, 

Vermont, Maine

 Office: Goffstown, NH

MIDDLE ATLANTIC

New Jersey, New York

 Office: Wall, NJ

KEYSTONE

Pennsylvania

 Office: Carnegie, PA

SOUTHWEST

Oregon, California, Texas

 Office: Goleta, CA

CANADA

Ontario

 Office: Breslau, ON
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4 LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN AND CEO

Fellow Shareholders, welcome!  
I am pleased to present our first public company Annual Report.

TRUST AND SERVICE

In 1997, I had a vision to build a great company with great people. It was an opportunity to put a lifetime  
of learning and service into practice. Ever since my great grandfather, a school janitor, reconfigured his 
truck to take the kids home from school one afternoon, he built a business and a public trust that created  
a service attitude that still exists today.

This year our fleet of more than 3,300 vehicles transports over 250,000 student passengers to school 
each day throughout 10 states in the U.S. and now most recently in Ontario, Canada.

A YEAR OF TREMENDOUS ACCOMPLISHMENTS

I am pleased to report our 2005 results met our publicly stated 
goals. We once again increased revenue, margins and cash  
compared to last year. Revenue grew by 22 per cent to $109.7 
million for the year ended June 30, 2005. EBITDA rose 31 per 
cent to $21.4 million, and EBITDA margin improved to 19.5  
per cent from 18.3 per cent. 

Our compound annual growth rate (CAGR) for the past  
five years has been 23 per cent in revenue and 29 per cent in 
EBITDA, demonstrating solid improvement in the growth of  
our operations and increasing cash available for distributions 
since our IPO. We remain committed to achieving an 85 per  
cent payout ratio on an annualized basis.

FOCUS ON STEADY AND DISCIPLINED GROWTH

Our emphasis on rural and suburban markets, coupled with a 
philosophy of local management providing safe, reliable, cost-
effective transportation to schools, has led to our 97% contract 
retention rate since 1997. That kind of consistency does not  
happen by chance. It happens because we understand the many 
facets of our business, our customers, and our industry.

Our Regional Density Program allows local teams to stay 
focused on local issues; to know their markets, their customers, 

their employees, and their competition. We not only see our business as local, we manage it that way as well. 
While our growth has been steady, it has also been disciplined. Our ABC strategy of growth through 

Acquisitions, Bid-ins, and Conversions has allowed us to expand in targeted regions where we can create 
the best value. We apply this disciplined approach each day, managing operations and evaluating growth 
opportunities so that our average return on capital is more than double our average cost of capital.

We never forget that our ultimate responsibility is to provide the safe, reliable service our customers 
expect and to create value for you, our shareholders. At June 30, 2005 year-end, our market capitalization 
stood at $173 million, up from $116 million only six months prior at the time of our IPO.

 While I can’t forecast or promise financial results, I can promise you the next best thing: our people 
remain committed to creating value over the long haul and capturing the tremendous growth opportunities 
we see each day. 
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“We are

committed 

to keeping our  

 operations safe, 

executing our 

growth strategy 

and maximizing  

cash available  

  for distributions.”

ON THE ROAD TO EXCELLENCE

To ensure STA continues to deliver on our strategy, David White was appointed President and Chief Operating 
Officer effective July 1, 2005. A board member since October 2004, David brings extensive experience  
and skill to his role managing costs, sourcing acquisition opportunities and maintaining the standard of 
excellence that our customers both expect and deserve. I’d like to thank Kenneth Needler, who recently 
retired from the position, for his very valuable contribution to building STA over the last six years. 

The Income Participating Securities (IPS) structure has been the ideal vehicle for us to become a public 
company and create sustainable value for our owners. Our contracted revenue provides stable and consistent 
cash flows, and we have added further stability through initiatives such as a five-year currency hedge to 
mitigate any fluctuations in currency exchange. Our management team of seasoned industry executives 
provides the resilience and expertise you expect from a team that has worked together for many years.

At STA, we work hard to remember the wonderful things our company is capable of – safety, service, 
creating jobs and supporting our communities. I would simply like to add, we are just getting started on  
the Road to Excellence! 

2006 OUTLOOK

We expect 2006 to be another year of opportunity for us. Our growth since July 
has already met our annualized expectations and we see many more exciting 
opportunities ahead.

With more than 4,000 bus company owners in North America operating fleets 
of all sizes, we have a pipeline of potential acquisitions of family-owned businesses 
that seek a smooth transition to pursue other interests while preserving the  
traditions and reputations they have built over the years.

Using our ABC growth strategy, we will continue to target very select states 
and provinces throughout North America where we are treated like a valued 
partner and not just a vendor.

Lastly, we will continue our search to find creative solutions for the more than two-thirds of school boards 
that continue to own and operate their own fleets. Our job is to demonstrate compelling economic and social 
reasons for them to spend their time and money on the most important task they face – educating students.

I would like to thank my fellow members of our Board of Directors for faithfully representing you, our 
shareholders. They have provided wise counsel and guidance to our entire management team as we plan an 
ambitious path to the future. I’d also like to thank every employee at STA for once again exceeding the 
standard of excellence that our customers know us for. We prove time and time again that experience matters. 

Most of all, I thank my fellow shareholders for the trust you have shown in us. We know first hand that 
with all the ups and downs of the stock market, there are real people with real hopes and dreams investing 
their hard-earned money in the future of our company. I assure you that being trusted with your investment 
is a responsibility we take most seriously; and we sincerely appreciate your support and confidence.

Denis J. Gallagher
Chairman, Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
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2005 

REVENUE SOURCES

Acquisitions

60%
Bids and

Conversions

40%

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

We deliver consistent growth.

With a five-year compound annual growth rate of 23 per cent for revenue and 29 per cent for 

EBITDA, STA has consistently delivered growth by executing on its proven strategy. We delivered 

solid results again in fiscal 2005 and are well positioned as we enter fiscal 2006.

OUR “ABC” STRATEGY

STA’s formula for growth is as simple as “ABC” – acquisitions, bids and conversions. We have successfully 
acquired and integrated 21 school bus contractors, won 25 new school district bids and completed six 
school district conversions from public to private sector service since our inception in 1997.

Our acquisition program focuses on contiguous businesses that can be absorbed into 
existing operations or that fit into our regional structure. We also look for acquisitions 
that expand our geographic coverage, such as our purchase of the student transportation 
business of Ayr Coach Lines in Ontario. 

Our 59 terminal locations, now grown to 62 as of September 2005, are organized into 
five regional divisions. This structure allows us to look for new bid opportunities in our existing regions 
and integrate them seamlessly.

Privatizations and management services currently account for approximately 16 per cent of our revenue. 
In some conversion situations, we structure our agreement as a Management Services Contract, where  
the school district retains ownership of its fleet. This requires little capital investment on STA’s part and 
means the customer is responsible for operating costs including fuel. Approximately 40 per cent of STA’s 
total revenue contracts include some form of fuel protection against price increases, and we are actively 
seeking to increase that number with our acquisitions, bids and conversions.

CONTINUED WINS SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR-END

STA has continued its ABC strategy in early fiscal 2006, adding to our regional 
density in the San Jose area of California with the acquisition of A&E West Coast 
Transport, Inc., and most recently in Pennsylvania with the addition of James O. 
Sacks, Inc. to our family of companies. Since closing the A&E West transaction, we 
have renewed our existing contract in the area and the A&E West contract for five 
more years, and moved the combined operations into a new facility in San Jose.

In total, STA has added more than 10 contracts and 450 school buses since its 
IPO. We plan to follow our proven model of establishing a regional platform, then 
growing through acquisitions, bids and conversions around a strong base.
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STA EMPLOYS
MORE THAN

95
CERTIFIED

AND REGULATED
INSTRUCTORS

LARGEST CONTRACT 
REPRESENTS LESS THAN

5
PER CENT OF 

CONTRACT REVENUE

SINCE 1997
APPROXIMATELY

97
PER CENT

OF CONTRACTS
RENEWED

FIRST ACQUISITION IN CANADA

We also entered the Canadian market subsequent to fiscal year-end, setting up operating 
subsidiary Student Transportation of Canada (STC) and making our first acquisition, 
the school bus division of Ayr Coach Lines of Waterloo, Ontario. Since completing the acquisition, we have 
opened a new facility in Breslau, near Waterloo. STC is now positioned for growth in Ontario, and we see 
exciting opportunities in a number of other provinces as well. 

We focus on excellence in operations.

Every day, we are judged by the quality of service we deliver. We believe in consistency – the same 

driver on the same route with the same children, day after day. STA’s focus on consistency and 

operational excellence means better safety, higher contract renewal, lower operating costs and 

reduced competition.

UNPARALLELED FOCUS ON SAFETY

At the heart of our business is the safety of our passengers and our employees. 
Our corporate culture emphasizes an uncompromising commitment to 
safety and service, which is a strong factor in our success renewing contracts 
and winning new bids. STA’s 95 certified and regulated school bus safety 
instructors have stringent training programs to ensure our drivers meet or 
exceed standards. We also have five full-time directors and supervisors 
responsible for safety program implementation on a regional basis or directly 
at large terminals. Low staff turnover for drivers and monitors ensures 
consistency, dependability and experience on the road. 

STRONG RELATIONSHIPS; STABLE & DIVERSIFIED CONTRACT BASE

Since STA was formed in 1997, we have renewed 207 of the approximately 213 contracts that have been 
up for renewal – a success rate of 97 per cent. We attribute our retention in part to the consistency of our 
business and the close relationships we foster with our customers. We work closely with our customers to 
deliver customized solutions for each district’s needs. The rural and suburban markets we serve tend to 
extend existing contracts rather than solicit bids. 

In addition to being stable, STA’s contract base is also diversified. The average contract accounts for 
just one per cent of contract revenue, with the largest accounting for less than five per cent. Our average 
contract length is between three and eight years.
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School enrollment 
in the western 

U.S. is expected 
to grow 13% over  
 the next 10 years.

We have a proven strategy.

STA’s steady growth comes from building regional density  

in attractive rural and suburban markets. We have a  

solid base of very steady cash flow, and a wide field of 

opportunity to expand our geographic footprint.

FOCUS ON RURAL AND SUBURBAN MARKETS

One of STA’s strong competitive advantages over its large, 
national competitors is its focus on school districts in rural  
and suburban markets. These markets tend to offer very high 
contract retention and higher margins. We also benefit from  
less competition. The other national school transportation 
companies are primarily focused on urban areas, while our  
local competitors lack the resources to meet growing customer 
needs and take advantage of economies of scale. Rural and 
suburban markets also have lower operating costs. Increased 
safety is another critical factor, as driving conditions on rural  
and suburban routes tend to be safer. STA’s consistency in 
drivers, routes, buses and people further ensures the safety  
and security of our passengers.

BUILDING REGIONAL DENSITY

STA has consistently grown by delivering national efficiency with a local face. We establish a platform in 
targeted markets and create regional density by executing our Acquisition-Bid-Conversion strategy.  
We leverage our infrastructure and realize economies of scale by centralizing administration functions 
such as accounting and finance, purchasing, legal and insurance. At the same time, we preserve local 
strengths and community relationships by decentralizing operations, customer relations, payroll and billing. 
We continue to place value on local branding of our vehicles.

ORGANIC GROWTH

In addition to our aggressive acquisition strategy, STA has steadily delivered organic growth in our  
existing contracts. We achieve this through inflation-related escalators built into our contracts, and 
through increased enrollments in the communities we serve. 

EXPANDING INTO NEW MARKETS

We see very exciting opportunities to export our ABC growth strategy to new rural and  
suburban markets across North America. The management team at STA closely monitors 
demographic and enrollment trends to take advantage of opportunities for growth. For 
example, in the western United States, enrollment is expected to rise by 13 per cent over  
the next 10 years. We made our debut in the Ontario market immediately after that  
province’s Ministry of Education announced Cdn $33 million in student transportation 
funding increases for the 2005-2006 school year, an increase of five per cent, the first of  
its kind in many years.
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MARKET

FRAGMENTATION

4,000
private operators own

 30%
of buses in the U.S.

We take advantage of market opportunities.

Our experienced management team has the proven ability to identify  

opportunities that fit our strategy, and act quickly to capitalize on  

them. In an industry with robust fundamentals and exciting acquisition  

potential, we are well positioned to continue our growth. 

STRONG INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS

STA operates in an industry with strong but basic fundamentals – kids always 
need to go to school, and school buses are the safest way to get them there. In the 
United States alone, $13 billion is spent annually on school bus transportation. 
There are approximately 450,000 school buses on the road each day, and  
70 per cent are owned and operated by public school districts. The remaining 
30 per cent are owned and operated by an estimated 4,000 private contractors.

POSITIVE TRENDS POINT TO GROWTH

Demographic and market trends point to continuing growth for private contractors such as STA. School 
districts are increasingly seeing the benefits of outsourcing their transportation in order to save costs.  
Some states have very low levels of outsourcing, which presents significant opportunities for STA.

Total enrollment at public elementary and secondary 
schools in the United States is projected to increase by 
five per cent between 2001 and 2013, according to the 
National Center for Educational Statistics, with some 
states significantly outpacing that rate. Special education 
transportation, an important part of STA’s business, is 
also growing at a faster rate as increasing numbers of 
students require individualized programs and services.

OPPORTUNITIES FOR CONSOLIDATION AND ACQUISITION

With at least 4,000 operators, the private school trans-
portation market remains fragmented. The top five private 
operators, including STA, have approximately 57 per cent  
of the outsourced market. The pipeline for potential  
acquisitions among the vast number of small local oper-
ators is robust, and over the years we have made solid 
contacts and built a reputation as an excellent partner for those who want to sell. The current environment 
of high costs such as we are in right now tends to drive more consolidation, as smaller companies cannot 
achieve cost efficiencies. We see strong opportunities and are poised to execute our growth plan.

We’re making the grade. Since our IPO*, STA’s strategy continues to deliver strong results.  

We successfully completed three acquisitions, won bid-in contracts totalling $5 million annually, 

and entered the Canadian market with a new operating subsidiary. *To September 30, 2005
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The primary responsibility of STA’s board of directors is clear: 
to serve the interests of long-term shareholders. 

STA understands that earning the trust of investors comes from demonstrating honesty, transparency 

and good governance. Management and the board firmly believe that creating a culture of integrity 

and adhering to the highest standards of behaviour fosters long-term success. 

STA’s corporate governance practices are compliant with the guidelines published by the Canadian Securities 
Administrators and adopted by the Toronto Stock Exchange. The Company is committed to proactively 
reviewing and updating these practices to stay ahead of regulatory demands and investor expectations.

STA’s board of directors consists of seven directors, of whom four are unrelated and independent to STA. 
The board follows a mandate that clearly defines its role and responsibilities in overseeing the Company’s 
strategy, management team, financial reporting and governance.

Following its initial public offering, the board adopted its committee charters, as well as a number of 
policies that reflect best practices in governance and disclosure. All policies, along with the board mandate 
and the committee charters, are available on STA’s web site at www.sta-ips.com.

  Board Mandate

  Defines the role and responsibilities   

  of the board of directors

  Disclosure Policy

  Ensures the Company adheres to best practices in  

  disclosing and disseminating material information

  Code of Conduct

  Sets out the ethical principles guiding all directors,  

  officers and employees of STA

  Insider Trading Policy

  Strictly limits trading by management, the board  

  and other insiders

 “   Whistleblower” Policy

  Spells out confidential complaint procedures  

  regarding illegal or unethical behaviour
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Committees

AUDIT COMMITTEE — STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AMERICA LTD.

The Audit Committee of STA Ltd. is responsible for: the oversight and supervision of the accounting and 
financial reporting practices and procedures of STA, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and  
procedures, and the quality and integrity of financial statements of STA. The independent auditors of STA report 
directly to the Audit Committee. The Committee is also responsible for directing the auditors’ examination 
of specific areas and for recommending to the board of directors the selection of independent auditors. 

The Audit Committee of STA met two times between December 21, 2004 and June 30, 2005. All members 
of STA’s Audit Committee are independent of management, and the chair is George Rossi. 

COMPENSATION, NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE — 

STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AMERICA HOLDINGS, INC.

The Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of Student Transportation of 
America Holdings Inc. and STA’s board are jointly responsible for: establishing procedures for the identification 
and recommendation of nominees to the board of directors, ongoing assessment of the board of directors, 
its committees and its members, developing and implementing orientation procedures for new directors, 
advising on and overseeing the compensation of management and directors, and developing and monitoring 
the Company’s approach to governance issues. 

The Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of STA Holdings met two 
times between December 21, 2004 and June 30, 2005. The chair of the committee is John W. Crow and all 
members are independent of management. 

Directors

DENIS J. GALLAGHER, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Denis Gallagher founded STA in 1997. He has more than 29 years of experience in the passenger trans-
portation industry. He previously served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Coast Cities, a local 
transportation company. Upon the acquisition of Coast Cities by Laidlaw, Inc. in 1987, Mr. Gallagher was 
appointed Regional Vice President and later Senior Vice President of Laidlaw, a position he held through 
1996. Mr. Gallagher’s experience includes expansion into new markets, the consolidation and integration 
of many acquisitions and the successful privatization of large fleets throughout the U.S. 

JOHN W. CROW, LEAD DIRECTOR 1

John Crow, a former Governor of the Bank of Canada, is the President of J&R Crow Inc., an economic and 
financial consulting firm, and serves on the boards of several public and private organizations. Prior to his 
tenure as Governor between 1987 and 1994, Mr. Crow held a variety of successively senior positions at the 
Bank of Canada. Prior to joining the bank, he worked at the International Monetary Fund in Washington, 
DC, for more than a decade, where he was appointed Chief of the North American Division in 1970. 

IRVING GERSTEIN 2

Irving Gerstein serves on a variety of boards in both the private and public sectors, and is a past Chairman 
of the Board of Mount Sinai Hospital in Toronto. He is a Member of the Order of Canada and a Member of 
the Order of Ontario. Mr. Gerstein received his BSc. in Economics from the Wharton School of Finance and 
Commerce at University of Pennsylvania.
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KENNETH B. NEEDLER

Kenneth Needler served as President and Chief Operating Officer of STA from July 1999 to June 2005.  
Between 1972 and 1990, he served in a number of management capacities at Laidlaw, Inc., including as President 
of Canadian school bus operations and President of the Passenger Services Group. In 1984, Mr. Needler 
was appointed to the board of directors of Laidlaw, where he served as a member of the Audit Committee. 

GEORGE ROSSI 2

George Rossi serves on the boards of several public and private entities and serves on the investment valuation 
committee of Investissements Desjardins. As the Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Cinar Corporation from 2000 to 2002 and as Interim President from 2002 to 2003, Mr. Rossi successfully 
led the turnaround and financial restructuring of the company. Between 1983 and 2000, Mr. Rossi was 
Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Radiomutuel Inc., a publicly traded media company. Prior to 
that, he was an audit manager with Ernst & Young. 

DAVID SCOPELLITI 2

David Scopelliti has more than 17 years of experience as a principal investor in the 
private equity and debt markets. Since 2003, he has headed the State of Connecticut’s 
$3.9-billion private equity program. He focused on private equity as a past partner  
at OG Capital and Managing Director at CIBC World Markets. From 1990 to 2000,  
he was founder and Group Head of ING Group’s New York Merchant Banking  
Division, where his efforts were critical in transforming ING into an active player  
in the leveraged finance and private equity sponsor markets. 

DAVID A. WHITE, PRESIDENT & CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

David A. White was appointed to STA’s board of directors in October 2004, and was named President and 
COO of STA in July 2005. With more than 25 years of business experience, he has served in a number of 
roles including President of Alcan Pharmaceutical Packaging-Americas. Between 1990 and 1997, Mr. White 
held numerous positions with Laidlaw Inc. including President of MedTrans, Regional Vice President of 
Western Canada busing operations, and Vice President of Finance of Laidlaw’s school bus operations. 

ROBERT E. REILLY 1,3

Robert Reilly is the Chairman and founding partner of Reilly Partners Inc., an executive search firm. Prior 
to starting Reilly Partners in January 2005, Mr. Reilly was the President and a director of DHR International, 
an executive search firm with offices throughout the United States and in Europe and Asia. Prior to joining 
DHR, he served as a Senior Vice President, strategic group of LaSalle Partners (now Jones Lang LaSalle).

CHARLES B. GRACE 1,3

Charles Grace is currently a Managing Director with Wynnchurch Capital, Ltd., a private equity firm based 
in Lake Forest, Illinois. Prior to joining Wynnchurch Capital in 2000, Mr. Grace spent several years in 
investment banking and principal investing with GE Capital Merchant Banking, Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. 
and A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. 

 1 Member of Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of STA Holdings.

 2 Member of Audit Committee of each of STA and STA Holdings.

 3 STA Holdings board member. 
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The following Management Discussion and Analysis of the Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Student 

Transportation of America Ltd., is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements 

of Student Transportation of America Ltd. for the period ended June 30, 2005. These financial statements can be 

found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Student Transportation of America Ltd. financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada (“GAAP”). The information in this Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis of the Financial Condition and Results of Operations is effective October 26, 2005. 

Additional information and the Annual Information Form filed by Student Transportation of America Ltd. are 

available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

 
 

General

On December 21, 2004, Student Transportation of America Ltd. (“STA Ltd.” or the “Company”) and 
Student Transportation of America ULC (“STA ULC” and together with STA Ltd., the “Issuer”) completed 
an initial public offering of 11,604,140 Income Participating Securities (“IPS”) for total gross cash proceeds 
of Cdn $116,041,400 (the “IPS Offering”). Each IPS represents one common share of STA Ltd., and Cdn 
$3.847 principal amount of 14% subordinated notes (the “Subordinated Notes”) issued by STA ULC. In 
addition, STA ULC simultaneously issued, on a private placement basis, Cdn $10 million of separate 
subordinated notes (the “Separate Subordinated Notes”) and Student Transportation of America Holdings, 
Inc. (“STA Holdings”) entered into a bank credit facility (the “New Credit Agreement”), initially drawing 
$43.3 million at the close of the IPS Offering (together with the IPS Offering, the “IPS Transactions”).  
In connection with the IPS Offering, STA Ltd. acquired all of the issued and outstanding Class A common 
shares of STA Holdings, representing an 85.1% interest in STA Holdings, and STA ULC acquired all of the 
preferred shares of STA Holdings. STA Ltd.’s acquisition of the common shares of STA Holdings has been 
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

On January 7, 2005, the underwriters of the Company’s IPS Offering exercised an over allotment option 
granted in connection with the IPS Offering. As part of the exercise of the over allotment option, the Issuer 
completed a subsequent issuance of 1,160,414 IPSs for gross proceeds of Cdn $11,604,140. STA Ltd. and 
STA ULC used the net proceeds from the over allotment issuance to purchase additional Class A common 
shares and preferred shares of STA Holdings, respectively. STA Holdings in turn used such amounts to 
purchase all of its Class C common shares from its existing investors. Upon the purchase of the Class C 
common shares, STA Ltd.’s ownership percentage in STA Holdings increased to 93.6%, resulting in a 
reduction of minority interest. STA ULC, both prior and subsequent to the purchase of additional shares 
of preferred stock, owns 100% of the issued and outstanding preferred stock of STA Holdings. 

Since substantially all of the Company’s operating cash flows are in U.S. dollars, all amounts presented 
herein are stated in U.S. dollars, unless indicated otherwise. Canadian dollar amounts are designated  
by “Cdn $”.

We are the fifth largest provider of school bus transportation services in North America, having in 
excess of 110 contracts and a fleet of over 3,000 school buses, vans and other vehicles. We have become  
a leading school bus transportation services and management company, aggregating operations through 
the consolidation of existing providers, bid in opportunities and conversion of school district owned 
operations in the fragmented $15 billion North America school transportation industry. We currently 
provide school bus transportation services in Ontario, Canada and the following U.S. states: California, 
Connecticut, Maine, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Texas and Vermont. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Our services include home-to-school transportation, and extracurricular and charter trips for school 
and other groups. Home-to-school busing accounts for approximately 90% of our revenues. The remaining 
10% relates to services provided by the Company such as charter services for athletic events, field trips, 
summer camp routes and other non-school related charter services. Our school bus transportation 
contracts have provided a stable and consistent revenue stream due (i) to contract terms ranging from one 
to eight years and (ii) school districts in rural and suburban markets historically tending to extend 
contracts with quality incumbents rather than solicit bids from potential replacement contractors. As of 
June 30, 2005, we have renewed 207 of the approximate 213 contracts that have been up for renewal since 
the inception of STA Inc., the predecessor company. We attribute this successful contract renewal rate to the 
following factors: (i) management’s experience in the student transportation industry; (ii) our reputation for 
passenger safety and providing efficient, on-time services; (iii) the preference of school districts in rural 
and suburban markets in which we operate to maintain continuity of service; (iv) our success in operating 
as a local company, including maintaining the local brand when possible, participating in local school 
programs, and emphasizing our commitment to the local community; (v) proactively renegotiating and 
extending existing contracts before maturity; and (vi) operating in states where regulations allow contracts 
to be extended without mandatory public bid.

School bus transportation revenue has historically been seasonal, based on the school year calendar  
and holiday schedule. Payments for services are generally made as service is performed from September 
through June. Compensation under school bus transportation contracts is generally based on a daily rate 
per vehicle. The daily rate charged per vehicle varies, depending upon a wide range of factors including  
(i) vehicle type (standard school buses, vans, or vehicles with wheelchair lifts), (ii) the nature of the service 
provided (transportation of regular enrollment students or students with special needs), (iii) special 
requirements of a particular school district concerning age of vehicles and/or upgrades on equipment, and 
(iv) the cost of labour. Contracts generally provide for an annual escalator clause for inflation based on the 
consumer price index and / or negotiated increases and may provide for additional protection for excessive 
cost increases. Specifically, approximately 40% of our contracts include some form of protection against 
fuel increases, ranging from reimbursement by the school district to outright purchase of fuel by the 
school district. Although the majority of our contracts (representing approximately 84% of the fleet) 
require us to own the vehicles, we have increased our managed contracts (i.e. where the school district 
retains ownership of the fleet and provides real estate and facilities), particularly in conversion situations.

The principal elements of our cost of operations are salaries and wages along with related employee 
benefits, fuel, vehicle insurance, parts and repair expense and driver development and safety related 
expenses. Historically, the vast majority of our cost of operations has varied directly in proportion to 
revenue. As of June 30, 2005, approximately 6% of our total work force were members of various labour 
unions. We believe that historically we have had satisfactory labour relations with our employees and  
have limited exposure to employee labour unions. 

General and administrative expenses include costs primarily associated with our corporate office in 
New Jersey, as well as the administrative staffing associated with our regional offices in California, Texas 
and Pennsylvania. In addition, general and administrative expense includes the facilities cost associated 
with our operating terminals. As we continue to implement our business and growth strategies and grow 
our business, we expect that there will be an increase in our general and administrative expenses. However, 
because these expense increases will be incurred in connection with an increase in our revenue base, we 
anticipate that the increases will be relatively smaller, as a percentage of revenues, as we realize economies 
of scale and the costs are spread over a larger revenue base.
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Results of Operations

As the Company commenced operations on December 21, 2004, the period ended June 30, 2005 (part of 
fiscal year 2005) includes 192 days of operations, and there are no financial statements for the 2004 fiscal 
year for the Company that can be used on a comprehensive basis for comparing the current 192-day period 
operating results with a prior period. 

In order to enhance its usefulness, this management discussion and analysis includes a summary of the 
operating results (i) of the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and (ii) of the Company for 
the 192-day period ended June 30, 2005 subsequent to the IPS Offering combined with the fiscal periods of 
Student Transportation of America, Inc. (“STA, Inc.” – a wholly owned subsidiary of STA Holdings) prior to the 
IPS Offering on a combined basis to arrive at operating results for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, through 
income before income taxes and minority interest. These results have been compared to the operating 
results of STA, Inc. for the three months and fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, as discussed below.

 Three Months Ended June 30 Fiscal Year Ended June 30
  
   192 Days 173 Days
Thousands of U.S. dollars,   12/21/04 to 7/1/04 to Total 
except per share amounts 2005 2004 6/30/05 12/20/04 2005 2004
  

REVENUES   $ 30,207 $ 24,686 $ 62,738 $ 46,986 $ 109,724 $ 89,752
               
Costs and expenses:              
 Cost of operations    21,334  18,448  43,762  33,792  77,554  64,082
 General and administrative   2,765   2,186    6,059    4,684    10,743  9,275
 Non-cash stock compensation    —  35  —  157  157  35
 Depreciation expense    4,140  2,410  8,843  3,500  12,343  7,697
 Amortization expense    1,765  —  3,248  100  3,348  2
  

Total operating expenses    30,004  23,079  61,912  42,233  104,145  81,091
  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS   203  1,607  826  4,753  5,579  8,661
Interest expense    2,681  3,075  5,727  6,573  12,300  11,938
Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign
 currency exchange contracts   512  —  (1,000)  —  (1,000)  —
Other loss    99  273  86  377  463  237
  

Loss before income taxes
 and minority interest    (3,089) $ (1,741)  (3,987) $ (2,197) $ (6,184) $ (3,514)

           
  Recovery of income taxes    (1,063)    (1,418)
Minority interest    64    24
  

Net loss    $ (2,090)   $ (2,593)

       
  Net loss per share   $ (0.16)   $ (0.20)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

BALANCE SHEET DATA  Fiscal Year Ended June 30

Thousands of U.S. Dollars   2005 2004

Total assets     $ 178,650 $ 104,766

          
Total long-term liabilities     $ 112,746  $ 108,747 

          
192 DAYS ENDED JUNE 30, 2005

For the 192 days ended June 30, 2005, revenue totaled $62.7 million. Cost of operations totaled $43.8 million, 
general and administrative expenses totaled $6.1 million, and depreciation and amortization totaled  
$12.1 million. Interest expense totaled $5.7 million, unrealized gain on foreign currency exchange contracts 
totaled $1.0 million and other expense totaled $0.1 million for the 192-day period. Income tax benefit for 
the 192-day period totaled $1.4 million. Minority interest amounted to $24 thousand based on income 
before minority interest and interest expense associated with the Subordinated Notes of $0.4 million for 
the 192-day period. Net loss for the 192-day period ended June 30, 2005 totaled $2.6 million, resulting in  
a net loss per IPS unit of $0.20 cents. 

The Company’s Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes are denominated in Canadian 
dollars and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements at the rate of exchange in effect at the 
balance sheet date. The effect of the change in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. 
dollar has been reflected in cumulative currency translation adjustment on the Company’s balance sheet. 

The unrealized gain on foreign currency exchange contracts of $1.0 million relates to the fair value of the 
foreign currency exchange contracts entered into as an economic hedge of the U.S. dollar / Canadian dollar 
currency exposure on the IPS distributions. Since a majority on the Company’s cashflow is denominated 
in U.S. dollars and the currently anticipated IPS distributions will be paid in Canadian dollars, we entered 
into a series of monthly forward foreign currency exchange contracts to minimize the impact of fluctuations 
in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar through August 2010.

THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2005 COMPARED TO THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

 Revenues: Revenues for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $30.2 million compared to $24.7 
million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, representing an increase of $5.5 million, or 22.4%. The 
Company closed one acquisition in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 and two acquisitions during the 
fourth quarter of the 2004 fiscal year, and started operations on four new bid contracts for the 2005 fiscal 
year. In addition, the Company did not renew three contracts for the 2005 fiscal year.

These three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for $4.4 million in new business growth, 
which was partially offset by $0.7 million revenue reduction resulting from the three contracts not included 
in the fourth quarter results for fiscal year 2005. The remaining $1.8 million increase in revenues resulted 
from both contract rate increases and increases in service requirements of existing contracts.

 Cost of Operations: Cost of operations for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $21.3 million 
compared to $18.4 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, an increase of $2.9 million or 15.6%. 
The three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for $2.8 million of the total increase in cost of 
operations, which was partially offset by $0.5 million reduction resulting from the three contracts not 
included in the fourth quarter results for fiscal year 2005. The remaining $0.6 million increase in cost of 
operations, net of new business and contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, resulted primarily from 
increased salaries and wages, fuel and insurance costs, which was partially offset by lower employee benefit 
expense. Salaries and wages, net of new business and contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, increased 
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$0.7 million due to increased revenue, but decreased as a percentage of revenue to 40.9% in the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2005 from 41.1% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Cost of fuel, net of new business and 
contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $0.4 million 
higher than the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, and as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.5% for the 
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 from 5.5% for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004. The effect of higher 
market fuel prices on the Company’s results was partially mitigated due to approximately 40% of our 
contracts including some form of fuel protection against price increase, ranging from reimbursement by 
the school district to outright purchase of fuel by school districts. Insurance costs, net of new business and 
contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $0.8 million 
higher than the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, primarily due to increased vehicle claim reserves and 
increased cost and coverage for directors and officers insurance with the shift from a private to public 
entity, and as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.4% for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 from 3.4%  
for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004. Employee benefit expense, net of new business and contracts  
not renewed for fiscal 2005, decreased $1.4 million due to significant increases in health care expense 
experienced during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004. Employee benefits as a percentage of revenue 
declined to 10.3% of revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 from 16.8% for the fourth quarter  
of fiscal year 2004.

 General and Administrative Expense: General and administrative expense for the fourth quarter of 
fiscal year 2005 was $2.8 million compared to $2.2 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, an 
increase of $0.6 million or 26.5%. As a percentage of revenues, total general and administrative expense 
increased to 9.2% for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 from 8.9% for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2004. The three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for $0.2 million of the increase. The 
remaining increase in general and administrative expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 reflects 
higher facilities costs of $0.1 million and costs associated with public company expenses accounted for 
approximately $0.3 million.

 Depreciation Expense: Depreciation expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $4.1 million 
compared to $2.4 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, an increase of $1.7 million. Vehicles 
associated with the three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for $0.4 million in depreciation, 
while depreciation expense associated with the fair value step-up adjustment to fixed assets resulting from 
the allocation of purchase price in connection with the IPS Transactions accounted for $1.3 million of the 
total $1.7 million increase in depreciation expense. As a percentage of revenues, excluding the depreciation 
associated with the new business vehicles and step-up adjustment, remaining depreciation expense as a 
percentage of revenue was 9.6% for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 compared to 9.8% for the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2004. 

 Amortization Expense: Amortization expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $1.8 million. 
Amortization expense represents the amortization of contract rights and covenants not to compete related 
to the allocation of purchase price in connection with the IPS Transactions. There was no amortization of 
identifiable intangible assets recorded during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. 

 Income from Operations: Income from operations was $0.2 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2005 compared to income from operations of $1.6 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, a 
decrease of $1.4 million resulting primarily from the $3.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization 
expense (related to the allocation of purchase price in connection with the IPS Transactions), partially offset 
by the net effect of the remaining items discussed above.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 Interest Expense: Interest expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $2.7 million compared 
to $3.1 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, a decrease of $0.4 million, or 12.8%. An increase 
of approximately $36.2 million in the average level of outstanding debt, completely offset by a decline of 
approximately $53.5 million in the average level of outstanding mandatorily redeemable preferred stock, 
accounted for the net decrease in interest expense. Non-cash dividends on mandatorily redeemable 
preferred stock, reflected as interest expense, amounted to $1.5 million related to the average mandatorily 
redeemable preferred stock outstanding of $53.5 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004.  
No non-cash dividends on mandatorily redeemable preferred stock were recorded during the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2005. This mandatorily redeemable preferred stock was completely redeemed in 
December 2004 in connection with the IPS Offering.

 Unrealized Loss on Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts: Unrealized loss on foreign currency exchange 
contracts of $0.5 million reflects the fair value adjustment of the foreign currency exchange contracts entered 
into as an economic hedge of the U.S. dollar / Canadian dollar currency exposure on the IPS distributions. 

 Other (Income) Expense: Other expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 totaled $0.1 million, 
primarily related to loss on asset disposals. Other expense for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 totaled 
$0.3 million, primarily related to the non-cash expense associated with an increase in the fair value of 
outstanding warrants during the period. These warrants were completely redeemed in December 2004 in 
connection with the IPS Offering. 

 Income (loss) before Provision for Income Taxes and Minority Interest: Loss before provision for income 
taxes and minority interest was $3.1 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 compared to a loss of 
$1.7 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, an increase of $1.4 million. This increase resulted 
primarily from the $0.5 million unrealized loss on foreign currency exchange contracts combined with the 
$3.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization (related to the allocation of purchase price in 
connection with the IPS Transactions), partially offset by the remaining items discussed above. 

 Minority Interest: Minority interest for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 amounted to $64 thousand 
and represents the 6.4% minority portion of the consolidated loss for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005. 
There was no minority interest for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004.

 Net Loss: Net loss for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 amounted $2.1 million, which includes a 
recovery of income tax provision of $1.1 million. Net loss per IPS unit for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2005 was $0.16 cents. 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

 Revenues: Revenues for the 2005 fiscal year were $109.7 million compared to $89.8 million for the 2004 
fiscal year, representing an increase of $19.9 million, or 22.2%. The Company closed one acquisition in  
the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 and two acquisitions during the fourth quarter of the 2004 fiscal year, 
and started operations on four new bid contracts for the 2005 fiscal year. In addition, the Company did not 
renew three contracts for the 2005 fiscal year.

These three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for $18.7 million in new business 
growth, which was partially offset by a $3.6 million revenue reduction resulting from the three contracts 
not included in the results for 2005 fiscal year. The remaining $4.8 million increase in revenues resulted 
from both contract rate increases and increases in service requirements of existing contracts.
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 Cost of Operations: Cost of operations for the 2005 fiscal year was $77.6 million compared to $64.1 million 
for the 2004 fiscal year, an increase of $13.5 million or 21.0%. The three acquisitions and four new bid contracts 
accounted for $12.5 million of the total increase in cost of operations, which was partially offset by $2.7 million 
reduction resulting from the three contracts not included in the results for the 2005 fiscal year. The remaining 
$3.7 million increase in cost of operations, net of new business and contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, 
resulted primarily from increased salaries and wages, fuel, insurance and maintenance costs, partially offset 
by lower employee benefit expense. Salaries and wages, net of new business and contracts not renewed for 
the fiscal year 2005, increased $1.4 million due to increased revenue, but decreased as a percentage of revenue to 
41.4% for the 2005 fiscal year from 42.2% for the 2004 fiscal year. Cost of fuel, net of new business and contracts 
not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, increased by $1.5 million in the 2005 fiscal year compared to the 2004 
fiscal year and as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.4% for the 2005 fiscal year from 5.1% for the 2004 fiscal 
year. The effect of higher market fuel prices on the Company’s results was partially mitigated due to approxi-
mately 40% of our contracts including some form of fuel protection against price increase, ranging from 
reimbursement by the school district to outright purchase of fuel by school districts. Insurance costs, net of 
new business and contracts not renewed for the fiscal year 2005, increased by $1.0 million for the 2005 fiscal 
year compared to the 2004 fiscal year and as a percentage of revenues increased to 5.3% for the 2005 fiscal year 
from 4.4% for the 2004 fiscal year. Maintenance costs, net of new business and contracts not renewed for the 
fiscal year 2005, increased by $0.7 million for the 2005 fiscal year compared to the 2004 fiscal year and as a 
percentage of revenue increased to 5.3% for the 2005 fiscal year from 4.8% for the 2004 fiscal year. Employee 
benefit expense, net of new business and contracts not renewed for fiscal 2005, decreased $1.0 million due to 
significant increases in health care expense experienced during the 2004 fiscal year. Employee benefits as a 
percentage of revenue declined to 10.4% of revenue for the 2005 fiscal year from 12.1% for the 2004 fiscal year.

 General and Administrative Expense: General and administrative expense for the 2005 fiscal year was 
$10.7 million compared to $9.3 million for the 2004 fiscal year, an increase of $1.4 million or 15.8%. As a 
percentage of revenues, total general and administrative expense decreased to 9.8% for the 2005 fiscal year 
from 10.3% for the 2004 fiscal year. The three acquisitions and four new bid contracts accounted for a  
$1.2 million increase, which was partially offset by a $0.1 million reduction resulting from the three contracts 
not included in the results for fiscal year 2005. The remaining increase in general and administrative expenses 
for the 2005 fiscal year is a result of higher facilities cost of $0.1 million and costs associated with public  
company expenses of approximately $0.5 million, which were partially offset by lower compensation expense. 

 Non-Cash Stock Compensation: Non-cash stock compensation expense for the 2005 and 2004 fiscal  
years was $0.2 million and $35,000, respectively. These expenses related to the increase in the estimated  
fair value of variable employee stock options during both years prior to the close of the IPS Offering under 
long-term incentive plans in existence prior to the IPS Offering. The plans under which the options were 
granted, along with all options, were terminated upon the close of the IPS Offering. There was no non-cash 
stock compensation recorded subsequent to the IPS Offering.  
 Depreciation Expense: Depreciation expense for the 2005 fiscal year was $12.3 million compared to  
$7.7 million for the 2004 fiscal year, an increase of $4.6 million. Vehicles associated with the three acquisitions 
and four new bid contracts accounted for $1.8 million in depreciation, while depreciation expense associated 
with the fair value step-up adjustment to fixed assets resulting from the allocation of purchase price in  
connection with the IPS Transactions accounted for $2.6 million of the total $4.6 million increase for the 
2005 fiscal year compared to the 2004 fiscal year. As a percentage of revenues, excluding the depreciation  
associated with the new business vehicles and step-up adjustment, remaining depreciation expense as a  
percentage of revenue was 8.7% for the 2005 fiscal year compared to 8.6% for the 2004 fiscal year. 
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 Amortization Expense: Amortization expense for the 2005 fiscal year was $3.3 million. Amortization  
expense represents the amortization of contract rights and covenants not to compete related to the allocation 
of purchase price in connection with the IPS Transactions. There was no amortization of identifiable intangible 
assets recorded during the 2004 fiscal year. 

 Income from Operations: Income from operations was $5.6 million for the 2005 fiscal year compared to 
income from operations of $8.7 million for the 2004 fiscal year, a decrease of $3.1 million resulting primarily 
from the $5.9 million increase in depreciation and amortization (related to the allocation of purchase price in 
connection with the IPS Transactions), and non-cash stock compensation expense (related to the long-term 
incentive plans in existence prior to the IPS Offering), partially offset by the net effect of the remaining items 
discussed above.

 Interest Expense: Interest expense for the 2005 fiscal year was $12.3 million compared to $11.9 million  
for the 2004 fiscal year, an increase of $0.4 million, or 3.0%. An increase of approximately $20.6 million in 
the average level of outstanding debt, partially offset by a decline of approximately $23.4 million in the 
average level of outstanding mandatorily redeemable preferred stock accounted for the net increase in interest 
expense. Non-cash dividends on mandatorily redeemable preferred stock, reflected as interest expense, 
amounted to $3.0 million during the 2005 fiscal year related to the average mandatorily redeemable preferred 
stock outstanding of $33.4 million for the 2005 fiscal year prior to the IPS Transactions. Non-cash dividends 
on mandatorily redeemable preferred stock, reflected as interest expense, amounted to $5.8 million during the 
2004 fiscal year related to the average mandatorily redeemable preferred stock outstanding of $51.3 million 
during the 2004 fiscal year. This mandatorily redeemable preferred stock was completely redeemed in 
December 2004 in connection with the IPS Offering.

 Unrealized Gain on Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts: Unrealized gain on foreign currency exchange  
contracts of $1.0 million reflects the fair value adjustment of the foreign currency exchange contracts entered 
into as an economic hedge of the U.S. dollar / Canadian dollar currency exposure on the IPS distributions. 

 Other (Income) Expense: Other expense for the 2005 fiscal year was $0.5 million. This expense reflects 
$0.4 million in non-cash expense primarily associated with an increase in the fair market value of warrants 
outstanding during fiscal 2005 prior to the IPS Offering. Other expense for the 2004 fiscal year totaled  
$0.2 million, primarily related to the non-cash expense associated with an increase in the fair value of outstanding 
warrants during the period. These warrants were completely redeemed in December 2004 in connection 
with the IPS Offering. 

 Loss before Provision for Income Taxes and Minority Interest: Loss before provision for income taxes and 
minority interest was $6.2 million for the 2005 fiscal year compared to a loss of $3.5 million for the 2004 fiscal 
year, an increase of $2.7 million. This increased loss resulted primarily from the $1.0 million unrealized  
gain on foreign currency exchange contracts combined with the $6.0 million increase in depreciation,  
amortization and non-cash stock compensation expense, partially offset by the net effect of the remaining 
items discussed above. 

 Minority Interest: Minority interest for the 192-day period ended June 30, 2005 amounted to $24 thousand, 
which represents the 14.9% minority interest through December 2004 and the 6.4% minority interest for the 
second half of fiscal year 2005. There was no minority interest for the 2004 fiscal year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Issuer completed the IPO Offering on December 21, 2004 through the issuance of 11,604,140 IPSs for 
net proceeds of $52.0 million related to the common share portion of the IPSs, and $36.2 million related  
to the Subordinated Notes portion of the IPSs. In addition, STA ULC issued, on a private placement basis, 
$8.1 million of Separate Subordinated Notes and, upon closing of the IPS Offering, a subsidiary of the 
Company borrowed $43.3 million on the New Credit Agreement. The Company incurred $6.9 million in 
deferred financing costs related to the issuance of this debt. The Company used the net proceeds from the 
IPS Transaction to purchase an 85.1% interest in STA Holdings.

The Issuer completed a subsequent issuance of IPSs on January 7, 2005 in connection with the exercise 
by the underwriters of the Issuer’s IPS Offering of an over allotment option granted in connection with the 
IPS Offering. As part of the exercise of the over allotment option, an additional 1,160,414 IPSs were issued 
for net proceeds of $5.4 million related to the common share portion of the IPSs and $3.6 million related 
to the Subordinated Notes portion of the IPSs. The Company incurred an additional $0.2 million in deferred 
financing costs related to the issuance of this debt. STA Ltd. and STA ULC used the net proceeds from  
the over allotment issuance to purchase additional Class A common shares and preferred shares of STA 
Holdings, respectively. STA Holdings in turn used such amounts to purchase all of its Class C common shares. 
Upon the purchase of the Class C common shares, STA Ltd.’s ownership percentage in STA Holdings 
increased to 93.6%, resulting in a reduction of minority interest from the issuance of additional IPSs. 

The Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes are denominated in Canadian dollars. Interest on 
these notes accrues at a rate of 14% per annum and the notes are due in 2016. Upon maturity, the principal 
amount of these notes will be payable in Canadian dollars. While the Company has entered into a hedging 
arrangement with respect to the total amount of the currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions 
(which includes interest in the Subordinated Notes) through August 2010, the Company has not entered 
into any hedge agreement with respect to the principal amount of the Subordinated Notes and Separate 
Subordinated Notes due upon maturity in 2016.

During the 192-day period ended June 30, 2005, the Company generated $11.3 million in cash flow 
from operations, of which $3.5 million was generated by a reduction in net working capital and other 
assets. The Company’s investing activities for the 192-day period resulted in a use of cash of $142.2 million. 
Included in these financing activities were (i) the purchase of STA Holdings for $132.2 million in connection 
with the IPS Transactions, (ii) the redemption of STA Holdings Class C common stock for $8.8 million in 
connection with the January 7, 2005 over allotment exercise and (iii) $1.2 million in net capital expenditures, 
which include capital expenditures of $0.7 million related to new revenue contracts discussed below.  
The Company’s financing activities for the 192-day period represented a source of cash of $132.6 million. 
Included in these financing activities were (i) $90.4 million in net proceeds from the issuance of IPSs in 
connection with the IPS Offering and the January 7, 2005 exercise of the over allotment option, (ii) $43.3 
million and $8.1 million in proceeds from the issuance of the New Credit Agreement and the Separate 
Subordinated Notes, respectively, in connection with the IPS Transactions, and (iii) $6.3 million in net 
debt repayments and $2.8 million in dividend payments subsequent to the close of the IPS Transactions. 

At June 30, 2005, our debt under the New Credit Agreement was $37.0 million, and we had $18.7 
million and $14.4 million in borrowings available under the revolving credit facility and the acquisition 
loan facility, respectively. In addition, at June 30, 2005 outstanding debt included approximately $0.9 million 
in promissory notes due to former owners and equipment financing, and $48.2 million in Subordinated 
Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes. The New Credit Agreement has a maturity date of December 21, 
2007, while the Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes have a 12-year term and are due and 
payable on December 21, 2016. The promissory notes due to former owners and the equipment financing 
amounts have various due dates through the fiscal year 2008.



22

STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AMERICA LTD. 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Company amended the New Credit Agreement subsequent to June 30, 2005 to (i) provide for an 
additional $5.0 million of capacity under a current acquisition loan facility, (ii) establish a new Cdn $3.0 
million revolving loan facility and a Cdn $10.0 million acquisition loan facility and (iii) permit consistent 
payment of interest and dividends during the initial 12-month period post the IPO Offering based on the 
seasonality of the business. The new Canadian dollar loan facilities were established to finance the Company’s 
operating entrance into the Canadian market.

On July 1, 2005, the Company closed its acquisition of certain assets of A&E West Coast Transport, 
Inc., providing the Company with new revenue contracts in the San Jose / Silicon Valley area of California. 
During July 2005, the Company was awarded additional new revenue and bid-in contracts in Connecticut, 
New Jersey, Vermont and New York State for the 2005/2006 school year. On July 29, 2005, the Company 
closed its acquisition of the school bus division of Ayr Coach Lines, located in Ontario, Canada. The cash 
used for these acquisitions, combined with the spending to date for new vehicles purchased for the new 
revenue and bid-in contracts reduced the borrowing availability under the acquisition loan facilities of the 
New Credit Agreement to approximately $18.1 million as at September 1, 2005. 

We operate a fleet of approximately 3,000 vehicles as of June 30, 2005 and consume substantial amounts 
of fuel for our operations. No assurance can be given that we will be able to adequately protect ourselves 
from increases in such costs. 

We intend to selectively acquire contracts through new bids and conversions and to pursue additional 
acquisitions to the extent that we are able to finance these from operating cash flows, available financing 
under our New Credit Facility and the potential additional issuance of IPSs.

Cash Available for Distribution

Cash available for distribution is not intended to be representative of cash flow or results of operations determined 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada (“GAAP”) and does not have a standardized 

meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP. Cash available for distribution may not be comparable to similar measures 

used by other companies or income trusts. Our cash available for distribution consists of (i) net income adjusted to 

add back (a) non cash items such as minority interest, future income taxes, unrealized gain / loss on foreign currency 

exchange contracts, amortization of deferred financing costs, depreciation and amortization expense, (b) other 

income / loss and (c) interest expense, less (ii) minority interest in cash flow of subsidiaries (dividends on the STA 

Holdings Class B common stock), (iii) cash interest expense other than cash interest on the IPS Subordinated Notes, 

and (iv) maintenance capital expenditures. Maintenance capital expenditures primarily represent the amounts spent 

on replacement vehicles to maintain the current revenue contract base in place.

All of the Company’s operations and earnings are in U.S. dollars while distributions to holders of its IPSs 
are made in Canadian dollars. Cash available for distribution to IPS holders is reported in Canadian dollars 
for the benefit of investors, designated by Cdn $. 

The Company completed the IPS Offering on December 21, 2004, mid way through the 2005 fiscal 
year. The distributable cash table below is for a partial year, and reflects only a portion of the replacement 
capital expenditures that will be incurred for 2006 fiscal year. The excess cash available for distributions 
over the IPS distributions made to date, shown below, will be used in subsequent periods for normal 
maintenance capital expenditures on an annualized basis.

Distributions on outstanding IPS units for the period December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005 aggregated 
$5.9 million (Cdn $7.3 million). These distributions include dividends on the STA Ltd. common stock 
component of the IPS units and interest payments on the Subordinated Notes component of the IPS units. 
In addition, STA Holdings declared dividends on its outstanding Class B common stock aggregating  
$0.4 million for the same period. The distributions were funded by cash generated from operations during 
the period. 
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Cash Available for Distribution for the three months and 192 day period ended June 30, 2005 – 
reconciliation of net income to cash available for distribution. 
  Period Ended June 30, 2005

Thousands of U.S. Dollars   3 Months 192 Days

Net loss      $ (2,090) $ (2,593)
Add back:
 Minority interest      64  24
 Future income taxes      (1,063)  (1,418)
 Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign currency exchange contracts   512  (1,000)
 Other income      99  86
 Amortization of deferred financing costs      308  703
 Interest expense      2,373  5,024
 Depreciation expense      4,140  8,843
 Amortization expense      1,765  3,248

Subtotal      $ 6,108 $ 12,917

Less:
 Minority interest in cash flow of subsidiaries     (191)  (405)
 Interest expense  
  (other than noncash and IPS Subordinated Notes)     (963)  (2,055)
 Maintenance capital expenditures      (1,204)  (1,345)

Cash Available for IPS Distributions    U.S. $ $ 3,750 $ 9,112 

         

Cash Available for IPS Distributions     Cdn $ $ 4,603 $ 11,185 

         

Cash Available per IPS Unit    Cdn $ $ 0.36  $ 0.88 

         
Total IPS Distributions
 Interest on IPS Subordinated Notes    Cdn $ $ 1,719  $ 3,644 
 Dividends on common shares    Cdn $ $ 1,711  $ 3,630 

Total IPS Distributions     Cdn $ $ 3,430  $ 7,274 

         

Total IPS Distributions per IPS Unit    Cdn $ $ 0.27 $ 0.57

         
Cash available for distributions is translated into Canadian dollars at a rate of Cdn $1.2275 to U.S. $1.00 
pursuant to the five-year Canadian dollar / U.S. dollar forward contract discussed below.

Cash dividends declared in the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005 on the common stock 
component of the IPS Units totaled Cdn $0.28 per common share.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Outstanding Share Data

As at June 30, 2005 and September 1, 2005, the Company had 12,764,554 IPSs outstanding. Each IPS 
represents one common share of STA Ltd., and Cdn $3.847 principal amount of 14% Subordinated Notes.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations and commitments principally include obligations associated with our outstanding 
indebtedness and lease obligations. The following table shows our contractual obligations and commitments 
related to our outstanding indebtedness as at June 30, 2005 and the related payment period by period due. 

 6/30/05
Thousands of U.S. Dollars Balance FYE 6/06 FYE 6/07 FYE 6/08 FYE 6/09 FYE 6/10 Thereafter

New Credit Agreement  36,975  —  —  36,975  —  —  —
Subordinated Notes and 
 Separate Subordinated  
  Notes  48,233  —  —  —  —  —  48,233
Seller debt  784  309  305  110  60  —  —
Equipment financing  149  100  49  0  —  —  —

     86,141  409  354  37,085  60  —  48,233

          
The Company expects to be able to renew or refinance the various loan facilities as they become due at 
then current market rates. 

We have no off-balance sheet debt or similar obligations.
We lease certain facilities under non-cancellable operating leases. Rent expense totaled $2.5 million  

and $2.0 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004, respectively. The terms of these 
leases and other operating leases expire at various times through 2018. 

The following represents future minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases.

Thousands of U.S. Dollars    Operating Leases

Year Ended        
 2006        $ 2,354
 2007         1,710
 2008         1,128
 2009         789
 2010 and thereafter        2,669

Total Minimum Payments       $ 8,650

We have employment agreements with certain key employees, providing for minimum aggregate annual 
compensation of $1.1 million in each calendar year. Additionally, certain of such employment agreements 
provide for various incentive compensation payments as determined by the Company’s board of directors.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risks arising from adverse changes in interest 
rates and the Cdn $ / U.S. $ foreign currency exchange rate. Market risk is defined for these purposes as  
the potential change in the fair market value of financial assets and liabilities resulting from an adverse 
movement in these rates.

As at June 30, 2005 our material variable rate borrowings included our outstanding revolver facility 
borrowings, acquisition loan facility borrowings and term loan facility borrowings under the New Credit 
Agreement. At inception of the New Credit Agreement, we put in place interest rate cap agreements. The 
notional amount of the interest rate cap agreement is $31.0 million, and in accordance with the terms of 
the interest rate cap agreements limit the interest rate on such notional amount. As at June 30, 2005 we 
had approximately $5.4 million, $0.6 million and $31.0 million in outstanding indebtedness related to the 
revolver facility, acquisition loan facility and term loan facility, respectively. A 100 basis point increase in 
interest rates, applied to these borrowings as at June 30, 2005, would result in an annual increase in 
interest expense and a corresponding reduction in cash flow of approximately $0.2 million.

In connection with the IPS Offering, we are exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate between the 
Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar because the anticipated distributions from STA Inc. to STA Holdings 
will be paid in U.S. dollars and the currently anticipated IPS distributions will be paid in Canadian dollars. 
In order to minimize the impact of fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the 
U.S. dollar, at the time of the IPS Offering we entered into a five-year Canadian dollar / U.S. dollar forward 
contract at a rate of Cdn $1.2275 to U.S. $1.00 for the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS 
distributions through January 2010. The five-year agreement consisted of 60 monthly forward foreign 
exchange contracts, of which 53 are all still open contracts as at August 15, 2005. In May 2005, we entered 
into four additional monthly forward foreign exchange contracts at a rate of Cdn $1.2295 to U.S. $1.00 for 
the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions from February 2010 through May 
2010. Under the terms of the contracts, we are required to deliver approximately $1.0 million U.S. dollars 
on or around the 14th of each month in exchange for approximately $1.22 million Canadian dollars.

At June 30, 2005, STA Holdings had unrealized foreign exchange gains on the open forward currency 
exchange contracts totaling $1.0 million. If STA Holdings had liquidated the contracts and realized a gain, 
it would be exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar 
with respect to the current level of monthly distributions on the IPSs.

In August 2005, we entered into three additional monthly forward foreign exchange contracts at a rate 
of Cdn $1.1618 to U.S. $1.00 for the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions from 
June 2010 through August 2010. Under the terms of the contracts, we are required to deliver approximately 
$1.05 million U.S. dollars on or around the 14th of each month in exchange for approximately $1.22 million 
Canadian dollars.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Summary of Quarterly Results

    Period from
Thousands of U.S. Dollars, 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Dec 21/04 to
except per share amounts 2005 (Note 1) 2005 2005 June 30/04

Revenues $ 1,083 $ 31,448  $ 30,207 $ 62,738

       
Net loss  $ (64) $ (439) $ (2,090) $ (2,593)

       
Net loss per share $ (0.01) $ (0.03) $ (0.16) $ (0.20)

       
Note 1: The 2nd Quarter 2005 is for the period December 21, 2004 to December 31, 2004.

Seasonality

School bus transportation revenue has historically been seasonal, based on the school calendar and holiday 
schedule. During the summer school break, revenue is derived primarily from summer camps and private 
charter services. Since schools are not in session, there is no school bus transportation revenue. Thus, the 
Company incurs operating losses during the first quarter of the fiscal year, which encompasses the summer 
school break. 

Transactions with Related Parties

The Company utilizes Coast Cities Truck Sales, Inc. (“Coast Cities”), a transportation equipment dealer, 
primarily to assist in procurement and disposal of the Company’s fleet under the direction of the Company’s 
President and COO. Coast Cities also provides consulting services to the Company, assisting with fleet 
valuations in its acquisition efforts. These fleet valuation services are provided free of charge. Coast Cities 
is a company controlled by a family member of the Company’s Chairman and CEO. The fleet procurement 
and disposal services are provided on a non-contractual basis for a commission equal to 1% of the value of 
the purchase and sale price of the Company’s vehicles. The Company believes that this arrangement would 
approximate the cost of an arm’s length arrangement of this nature. The Company paid $21,000 to Coast 
Cities during the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005.

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Management Discussion and Analysis are “forward-looking statements”, which 
reflect the expectations of management regarding the Issuer’s and the Company’s future growth, results of 
operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. These forward-looking statements reflect 
the Company’s current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only as 
of the date of this prospectus. Forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties, should 
not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications 
of whether or not or the times at or by which such performance or results will be achieved. A number of 
factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward looking 
statements, including, but not limited to, the factors discussed under “Risk Factors”. Although the forward-
looking statements contained in this Management Discussion and Analysis are based upon what the Issuer 
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and the Company believe to be reasonable assumptions, investors cannot be assured that actual results will 
be consistent with these forward-looking statements, and the differences may be material. These forward-
looking statements are made as of the date of this Management Discussion and Analysis and the Issuer 
and the Company assumes no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Some of the estimates and assumptions management is required to make relate to 
matters that are inherently uncertain as they pertain to future events. Management bases these estimates 
on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable and appropriate. 
Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates. The following is a description of our accounting 
policies that we believe require subjective and complex judgments, and could potentially have a material 
effect on reported financial condition and results of operations.

 Foreign Currency Translation: The functional currency of the Company and STA ULC is the Canadian 
dollar. The functional currency of the Company’s operations in the United States is the U.S. dollar. The 
Company’s financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars, as the principal operations and cash flows of its 
subsidiaries are conducted in U.S. dollars. As a result, the assets and liabilities of the Company and STA ULC 
are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the period end and revenues and expenses 
are translated at the average rate during the period. Exchange gains or losses on translation are deferred as a 
separate component of shareholders’ equity. The Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes of STA 
ULC are denominated in Canadian dollars. As the functional currency of STA ULC is the Canadian dollar, 
exchange rate gains or losses related to the Notes on the translation of the STA ULC financial statements into 
U.S. dollars, the reporting currency, are deferred as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are translated 
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Transactions denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the transaction date. 
Gains and losses on translation of these items are included in the consolidated statement of operations.

 Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is recorded at cost or at fair value if obtained as part  
of a business acquisition, less accumulated depreciation. Ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed  
as costs are incurred. Depreciation on property and equipment is computed on the straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to 11 years. Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets.

 Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangibles: Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets 
acquired in business combinations accounted for under the purchase method. Goodwill and tradenames 
are not amortized but rather assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances change, 
on the basis of its fair value. If the carrying amount of goodwill or tradenames exceeds their fair value, an 
impairment loss will be recognized in the statement of earnings in an amount equal to the excess. Other 
identifiable intangible assets consist of contracts rights which are amortized on a straight-line basis over an 
estimated useful life of 21 years, covenants not to compete which are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
an estimated useful life of two to three years, and tradenames that have an indefinite life. 
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 Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Management continually evaluates whether events or circumstances have 
occurred that indicate that the remaining estimated useful lives of property and equipment, contract rights 
and covenants not to compete may warrant revision or that the remaining balances may not be recoverable. 
If this review indicates that the assets will not be recoverable, as determined based on the undiscounted 
future cash flows from the use of the assets, the carrying value of the assets will be reduced to their estimated 
fair value.

 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We estimate the allowance based 
on current customer receivable balances, age of customer receivable balances, the customer’s financial 
condition and current economic trends. If the actual uncollected amounts were to significantly exceed the 
estimated allowance, our results of operations would be materially affected. 

 Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized when the service is provided. Credit is extended based on an 
evaluation of the customer’s financial condition, and generally advance payment is not required. A significant 
portion of our operations is with school districts on the East and West Coast. Anticipated credit losses are 
provided for in the financial statements. Management monitors the financial condition of its customers to 
reduce the risk of loss. 

 Insurance Reserves: As at June 30, 2005, we had approximately $2.4 million in recorded insurance reserves. 
These reserves reflect the estimated deductible amounts the Company is responsible for under the workers’ 
compensation and vehicle liability insurance deductible programs. Our insurance expense for these items  
is largely dependent on our claims experience and our ability to control such claims, in addition to third 
party premiums associated with this coverage. We have recorded estimated insurance reserves for workers’ 
compensation and vehicle liability insurance deductibles based upon estimates provided by our insurance 
carriers. Although the estimates of these accrued liabilities are based on the factors mentioned above, it is 
possible that future cash flows and results of operations could be materially affected by changes in our 
assumptions or changes in claims experience. 

 Income Taxes: Income taxes have been computed utilizing the liability approach. Future income tax assets 
and liabilities arise from differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in 
the financial statements. Future tax balances are determined by using tax rates expected to be in effect when 
the taxes will actually be paid or refunds received. A valuation allowance is recorded when the expected 
recognition of a future tax income asset is not considered to be more likely than not. The recorded future 
income tax liability results from a difference between the book and tax basis of certain transportation and 
other equipment. 

 Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities: The Company generally accounts for derivatives on 
an accrual basis. Derivatives that are not hedges are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet. Changes in 
fair value are recorded in the income statement. If the derivative is designated as a hedge, the fair value is 
recorded in the income statement when the hedged item is recognized in income.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Risk Factors 

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

 We cannot control certain of our operating expenses: The price of fuel, insurance costs and maintenance costs 
are operating expenses over which we have little or no control. Although certain of our customer contracts 
provide for automatic price increases or other forms of protection against fuel price and/or insurance cost 
increases, significant increases in the price of fuel, insurance or maintenance could affect our costs as well as 
the affordability to our customers of our services. Similarly, depending on the availability of qualified drivers 
and the level of competition with other businesses for their services, we may have little control over the wages 
that we pay our drivers. 

 We have significant capital expenditure requirements: In order to maintain our school bus fleet, we are 
required to make significant capital expenditures. There can be no assurance that cash flow from operations 
will enable us to acquire a sufficient number of new vehicles or make capital expenditures necessary to 
implement any expansion of service. 

 Our business depends on certain key personnel: We believe that our success depends, in part, on the retention 
of senior executive and regional management. There can be no assurance that we would be able to find  
qualified replacements for the individuals who make up our senior management team if their services were 
no longer available. The loss of services of one or more members of the senior management team could  
adversely affect our business, results of operations and our ability to effectively pursue our business strategy. 
We do not maintain key-man life insurance for any of our employees. 

 We face a number of risks in connection with our acquisition strategy: As part of our business strategy, we have 
expanded through acquisitions and will likely acquire additional businesses in the future. The acquisition and 
development of existing businesses to be operated by us will be dependent on our ability to identify, acquire 
and develop suitable acquisition targets in both new and existing markets. While we are careful in selecting 
the businesses that we acquire, and while the sellers of these businesses routinely execute indemnities in our 
favour relating to pre-closing liabilities, acquisitions involve a number of risks. Such risks, if they materialize, 
could have a material adverse effect on us, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 Our ability to achieve our business objectives depends on many factors, many of which are beyond our control:
Some of the factors that may affect our ability to successfully achieve our business objectives are the following. 
— Notwithstanding our high retention rate of renewable contracts, we may be unable to retain certain of 

our existing customer contracts, or we may only be able to renew them at minimal or no price increase, 
reducing profitability. 

— We may be unable to find suitable businesses to acquire or to successfully complete acquisitions on 
profitable terms or to successfully integrate acquired businesses.

— We may be unable to identify conversion opportunities or win bid contracts on profitable terms. 

 We may be adversely affected by rising insurance costs: Our cost of maintaining vehicle liability, personal 
injury, property damage and workers’ compensation insurance is significant. We could experience higher 
insurance premiums as a result of adverse claims experience or because of general increases in premiums by 
insurance carriers for reasons unrelated to our own claims experience. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 We may not be insured for certain losses: We may become subject to liabilities for claims for which insurance 
is not normally obtained, hazards that we cannot or may not elect to insure because of high premium costs 
or other reasons or for occurrences that exceed maximum coverage under our policies. For example, we do 
not have insurance to guard against claims for breach of contract. The occurrence of any liability for which 
we are not insured, any liability for a claim that exceeds our maximum coverage under our policies, or a 
multiplicity of otherwise insured claims for amounts within the deductible levels in our policies, could have 
a material adverse effect on us, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Risks Related to the Capital Structure

 The Issuer is Dependent on STA Holdings for all cash available for distributions: STA Ltd. and STA ULC are 
dependent on the operations and assets of STA Holdings through the ownership of common and preferred 
shares, respectively. Cash distributions to the holders of IPSs, common shares and Subordinated Notes will 
be dependent on the ability of STA Holdings to make dividend payments on its common shares held by STA 
Ltd. and on its preferred shares held by STA ULC. The actual amount of cash available for payments to holders 
of Subordinated Notes and distribution to holders of the IPSs, Common Shares or Subordinated Notes will 
depend upon numerous factors relating to the business of STA Holdings, including profitability, changes in 
revenue, fluctuations in working capital, capital expenditure levels, applicable laws, compliance with contracts 
and contractual restrictions contained in the instruments governing any indebtedness. Any reduction in the 
amount of cash available for distribution, or actually distributed, by STA Holdings will reduce the amount  
of cash available for STA ULC to make payments to holders of Subordinated Notes and to STA Ltd. for 
distributions to holders of Common Shares. While STA ULC is contractually obligated to make interest 
payments on the Subordinated Notes, cash distributions by STA Ltd. on the Common Share component of 
an IPS are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of the business of STA Holdings. 

 A significant amount of our cash is distributed, which may restrict potential growth: The payout of substantially 
all of our net operating cash flow will make additional capital and operating expenditures dependent on  
increased cash flow or additional financing in the future. Lack of these funds could limit the Issuer’s future 
growth and its cash flow. In addition, the Issuer may be precluded from pursuing otherwise attractive  
acquisitions or investments because they may not be accretive on a short-term basis. 

 STA Ltd. and STA ULC may not receive dividends from STA Holdings provided for in the dividend policy the 
board of directors of STA Holdings is expected to adopt, or any dividends at all: STA Ltd.’s only source of cash flow 
for payment of dividends on the Common Shares is distributions on its equity ownership of STA Holdings. 
The board of directors of STA Holdings may, in its discretion, amend or repeal the initial dividend policy 
that has been adopted. STA Holdings’ board of directors may decrease the level of dividends provided for in 
this initial dividend policy or entirely discontinue the payment of dividends. Future dividends with respect to 
the common shares of STA Holdings, if any, will depend on, among other things, the results of operations, cash 
requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions, business opportunities, provisions of applicable law 
and other factors that the board of directors of STA Holdings may deem relevant. The Indenture and the New 
Credit Facility contain significant restrictions on STA Holdings’ ability to make dividend payments, including, 
if STA Holdings defers interest on the Subordinated Notes under the indenture, restrictions on the payment 
of dividends until STA Holdings has paid all deferred interest, together with accrued interest thereon. 



31

STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AMERICA LTD. 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

 Subject to restrictions set forth in the indenture, the Issuer may defer the payment of interest to holders for a 
significant period of time: Prior to December 21, 2009, the Issuer may, subject to restrictions set forth in the 
indenture, defer interest payments on the Subordinated Notes on one or more occasions for up to an aggregate 
period of 24 months. In addition, after December 21, 2009, the Issuer may, subject to certain restrictions, defer 
interest payments on the Subordinated Notes on eight occasions for up to eight months on each occasion. 
Deferred interest will bear interest at the same rate as the Subordinated Notes. For any interest deferred 
during the first five years, the Issuer is not obligated to pay any deferred interest until December 21, 2009,  
so a holder of IPSs or Subordinated Notes may be owed a substantial amount of deferred interest that will  
not be due and payable until such time. For any interest deferred after December 21, 2009, the Issuer is not 
obligated to pay all of the deferred interest until maturity, provided that all deferred interest and accrued 
interest thereon must be paid in full prior to deferring interest on a subsequent occasion, so a holder of IPSs 
or Subordinated Notes may be owed a substantial amount of deferred interest that will not be due and 
payable until such time. 

 Fluctuations in the exchange rate may impact the amount of cash available to the Issuer for distribution:
The Subordinated Notes are denominated in Canadian dollars, and payment of the Subordinated Notes upon 
maturity will be payable in Canadian dollars. The Company has not entered into any hedge arrangement 
with respect to the payment of the Subordinated Notes upon maturity in 2016. The distributions to holders 
of IPSs and the underlying Common Shares and Subordinated Notes are denominated in Canadian dollars. 
Conversely, substantially all of the Issuer’s revenue and expenses, together with distributions received from 
the Company will be denominated in U.S. dollars. As a result, the Issuer will be exposed to currency 
exchange rate risks. 

Although the Company entered into a five-year hedging arrangement consisting of 60 monthly forward 
foreign exchange contracts at the time of the IPS Offering and subsequently entered into additional hedging 
arrangements in May 2005 and August 2005 consisting of four and three monthly forward foreign exchange 
contracts, respectively, with respect to the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions 
through August 2010, and that STA intends to directly or indirectly enter into additional subsequent hedging 
arrangements with respect to the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions to mitigate 
the exchange rate risk with respect to the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS distributions, 
there can be no assurance that these arrangements will be sufficient to fully protect against this risk. If 
hedging transactions do not fully protect against this risk, changes in the currency exchange rate between 
U.S. and Canadian dollars could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flow and may adversely affect the Issuer’s cash distributions. 

 The U.S. Internal Revenue Service may challenge the characterization of the Subordinated Notes as debt: There 
can be no assurance that U.S. federal income tax laws and IRS administrative policies respecting the U.S. 
federal income tax consequences will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects Non-U.S. Holders. 

For further discussion of the foregoing and other risk factors reference should be made to the Company’s 
Annual Information Report dated September 27, 2005.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Student Transportation of America Ltd. were 
prepared by management, which is responsible for the integrity and fairness of the information presented, 
including the amounts based on estimates and judgments. These consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Financial information 
respecting Student Transportation of America Ltd. appearing throughout this Annual Report is consistent 
with these consolidated financial statements.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements and 
for the accounting systems from which they are derived, management maintains internal controls designed 
to ensure that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are maintained. 

The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting through the 
Audit Committee of Student Transportation of America Ltd. This Committee reviews the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company, approves them and recommends them to the Board for approval.

Ernst & Young llp, independent auditors appointed by the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee have performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
and their report follows. The Company’s auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee 
to discuss their audit and related findings.

Denis J. Gallagher Patrick J. Walker
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Student Transportation of America Ltd. Student Transportation of America Ltd.

Toronto, Ontario
October 26, 2005

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
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To the Shareholders of Student Transportation of America Ltd.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Student Transportation of America Ltd. as at June 30, 2005 
and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated deficit and cash flows for the period from 
December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at June 30, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Ernst & Young llp
Certified Public Accountants
Metropark, New Jersey
September 21, 2005,  
except as to Note 14, which is  
as of October 26, 2005

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Assets

Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents       $ 1,657
 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $153     9,514
 Inventory        1,116
 Prepaid expenses        3,537
 Other current assets   Note 14     632

Total current assets        16,456

Other assets        7,484
Foreign currency exchange contracts   Note 14     940
Property and equipment, net   Note 4     60,873 
Other intangible assets, net   Note 5     48,852 
Goodwill   Note 3     44,045 

Total assets       $ 178,650

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable       $ 872
 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities       6,628
 Current portion of long-term debt   Note 7     409

Total current liabilities        7,909
Long-term debt   Note 7     85,732
Future income tax liability   Note 6     27,014

Total liabilities        120,655
Commitments and contingencies   Notes 10 and 13

Minority interest   Note 9     6,264
Shareholders’ equity:
 Common shares   Note 8     57,469
 Accumulated deficit        (5,550)
 Cumulative currency translation adjustments       (188)

Total shareholders’ equity        51,731

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity       $ 178,650

See accompanying notes.

On behalf of the Board,

Irving Gerstein David Scopelliti George Rossi
Director  Director Director

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2005
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars, except share and per share amounts

Revenues       $ 62,738

Costs and expenses:    
 Cost of operations        43,762
 General and administrative        6,059
 Depreciation expense        8,843
 Amortization expense        3,248

Total operating expenses        61,912

Income from operations        826
Interest expense         5,727 
Unrealized gain on foreign currency exchange contracts       (1,000) 
Other expense        86 

Loss before income taxes        (3,987)
    
Recovery of income taxes    Note 6    (1,418)
Minority interest    Note 9    24

Net loss         (2,593)
    
Accumulated deficit – beginning of period
Dividends declared        (2,957)

Accumulated deficit – end of period       $ (5,550)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding       12,661,809

Basic and diluted net loss per common share    Note 8   $ (0.20)

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  
AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT
Period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Operating activities

Net loss        $ (2,593)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:   
 Minority interest        24
 Future income taxes        (1,518)
 Unrealized gain on foreign currency exchange contracts      (1,000)
 Amortization of deferred financing costs        703
 Loss on disposal of assets        86
 Depreciation expense        8,843
 Amortization expense        3,248 
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
 Accounts receivable        4,163
 Prepaid expenses, inventory and other current assets       455
 Accounts payable        (1,196)
 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities       25
 Changes in other assets and liabilities        14

Net cash provided by operating activities        11,254 

Investing activities

Business acquisition, net of cash acquired of $763       (132,171)
Redemption of STA Holdings Class C common stock       (8,854)
Purchases of property and equipment         (2,017)
Proceeds on sale of equipment        854

Net cash used in investing activities        (142,188)

Financing activities

Initial public offering of common shares, net of expenses       52,021
Initial public offering of 14.0% Subordinated Notes       36,244
Issuance of 14.0% Separate Subordinated Notes       8,149
Over allotment issuance of common shares, net of expenses      5,448
Over allotment issuance of 14.0% Subordinated Notes       3,640
Borrowings on New Credit Facility, at closing of IPS Transactions     43,305
Deferred financing costs         (6,957)
Common stock dividends        (2,833)
Borrowings on New Credit Facility        23,045
Payments on New Credit Facility        (29,375)
Repayments on seller debt and equipment financing       (96)

Net cash provided by financing activities        132,591

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents        1,657
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period       —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period       $ 1,657

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005
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37NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless specified

June 30, 2005

1 — General

Student Transportation of America Ltd. (“STA” or the “Company”) is a corporation established under the 
laws of the Province of Ontario. STA was incorporated on September 22, 2004 for cash proceeds of 10  
Canadian dollars. An unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares of STA may be issued  
pursuant to its articles of incorporation. Holders of common shares of STA are entitled to receive dividends 
as and when declared by the board of directors and are entitled to one vote per common share on all  
matters to be voted on at all meetings of shareholders of STA. For the period from September 22, 2004 to 
December 21, 2004, STA was inactive. STA together with its indirect subsidiary Student Transportation of 
America ULC (“STA ULC” and together with STA, the “Issuer”), completed an Initial Public Offering (the 
“IPS Offering”) on December 21, 2004 through the issuance of 11,604,140 income participating securities 
(“IPSs”) for gross proceeds of $94,212 (Cdn $116,041). Each IPS consists of one common share of STA  
and Cdn $3.847 principal amount of 14% subordinated notes of STA ULC (the “Subordinated Notes”). 

At any time after the 45th day following the date of original issuance or upon the occurrence of a 
change of control of STA ULC, holders of IPSs may separate their IPSs into the common shares and 
Subordinated Notes represented thereby through their broker or other financial institution. Similarly, any 
holder of common shares and Subordinated Notes may recombine the applicable number of common 
shares and principal amount of Subordinated Notes to form IPSs through their broker or other financial 
institution, at any time. The IPSs will be automatically separated into the common shares and Subordinated 
Notes upon the occurrence of any of the following: (i) with respect to any holder of IPSs, acceptance by  
such holder of STA ULC’s offer to repurchase the Subordinated Notes represented by that holder’s IPSs in 
connection with a change of control of STA or STA ULC; (ii) exercise by STA ULC of its right to redeem all  
or a portion of the Subordinated Notes which may be represented by IPSs at the time of such redemption; 
(iii) the date on which the outstanding principal amount of the Subordinated Notes becomes due and 
payable, whether at the stated maturity date or upon acceleration thereof; (iv) if The Canadian Depository 
for Securities Limited is unwilling or unable to continue as securities depository with respect to the IPSs  
and the Issuer is unable to find a successor depository; or (v) the continuance (without cure) of a payment 
default on the Subordinated Notes for 90 days. 

Simultaneous to the IPS Offering, STA ULC issued, on a private placement basis, $8,149 (Cdn $10.0 million) 
of separate 14% subordinated notes (the “Separate Subordinated Notes” and together with the Subordinated 
Notes, the “Notes”) and the Issuer, through a subsidiary, entered into a bank credit facility (the “New Credit 
Agreement”) with a group of lenders consisting of a $31.0 million term loan, a $25.0 million revolving loan 
facility, and a $15.0 million acquisition loan facility (together with the IPS Offering, the “IPS Transactions”). 
In connection with the IPS Offering, $43.3 million was drawn on the New Credit Agreement.

In connection with the IPS Transactions, the Company acquired 100% of the Class A common stock  
of Student Transportation of America Holdings, Inc (“STA Holdings”), and STA ULC acquired 100%  
of the newly issued preferred stock of STA Holdings. Existing shareholders and members of management 
acquired 100% of the Class B and C common stock of STA Holdings. Upon the completion of the IPS 
Transactions, the Company owned 85.1% of the common stock interest and the existing shareholders  
and members of management owned the remaining 14.9% common stock interest of STA Holdings.  
STA Holdings, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Student Transportation of America, Inc. (“STA, Inc.”),  
is the fifth largest provider of school bus transportation services in North America. 
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On January 7, 2005, the underwriters of the IPS Offering exercised an over allotment option granted in 
connection with the IPS Offering. As part of the exercise of the over allotment option, the Issuer completed 
a subsequent issuance of 1,160,414 IPSs for net proceeds of $8,854 (Cdn $10,857). Each IPS consists of one 
common share of STA and Cdn $3.847 principal amount of 14% subordinated notes of STA ULC. Thus, 
the subsequent issuance of IPSs includes an additional $3,640 (Cdn $4,464) of Subordinated Notes. STA 
and STA ULC used the net proceeds from this subsequent issuance to purchase additional Class A common 
shares and preferred shares of STA Holdings, respectively. STA Holdings in turn used such amounts to 
purchase all of the Class C common shares of STA Holdings retained by the existing investors in STA 
Holdings upon the close of the IPS Offering. Upon the purchase of all of the Class C common shares, STA’s 
ownership percentage in STA Holdings increased to 93.6%, resulting in a reduction of minority interest. 
STA ULC, both prior and subsequent to the purchase of additional shares of preferred stock, owns 100% 
of the issued and outstanding preferred stock of STA Holdings.

These audited consolidated financial statements present the results of operations of the Company from 
the close of the IPS Offering on December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005. The Company had no active operations 
in the period prior to December 21, 2004.

2 — Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Canada. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation. 

The significant accounting policies are described below:

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The functional currency of the Company and STA ULC is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency of 
the Company’s operations in the United States is the U.S. dollar. The Company’s financial statements are 
reported in U.S. dollars, as the principal operations and cash flows of its subsidiaries are conducted in U.S. 
dollars. As a result, the assets and liabilities of the Company and STA ULC are translated into U.S. dollars  
using the exchange rate in effect at the period end and revenues and expenses are translated at the average 
rate during the period. Exchange gains or losses on translation are deferred as a separate component of 
shareholders’ equity. The Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes of STA ULC are denominated 
in Canadian dollars. As the functional currency of STA ULC is the Canadian dollar, exchange gains or losses 
related to the Notes on the translation of the STA ULC financial statements into U.S. dollars, the reporting 
currency, are deferred as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are 
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Transactions denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the 
transaction date. Gains and losses on translation of these items are included in the consolidated statement 
of operations.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less from the date of purchase.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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USE OF ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions 
that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Amounts reported based upon these assumptions 
include, but are not limited to, insurance reserves, income taxes, goodwill and other long-lived assets.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and, generally, advance 
payment is not required. A significant portion of the Company’s operations is with school districts on the 
East and West coasts of the United States. The Company has no individual customers which account for 
more than 10% of its revenues. 

Anticipated credit losses are provided for in the financial statements. Management monitors the financial 
condition of its customers to reduce the risk of loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories, consisting primarily of repair parts and vehicle accessories, are valued at the lower of cost or 
market determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment is recorded at cost or at fair value if obtained as part of a business acquisition, less 
accumulated depreciation. Ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed as costs are incurred. Depreciation 
on property and equipment is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the  
assets, which range from three to 11 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the 
lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets.

GOODWILL AND OTHER IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLES

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations  
accounted for under the purchase method. Goodwill and tradenames are not amortized but rather 
assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances change, on the basis of their fair 
value. If the carrying amount of goodwill or tradenames exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss will be 
recognized in the statement of earnings in an amount equal to the excess. Other identifiable intangible 
assets consists of contract rights which are amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life 
of 21 years, covenants not to compete which are amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful 
life of two to three years, and trade names that have an indefinite life (see Notes 3 and 5). Amortization of 
intangible assets amounted to $3.2 million for the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005.

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

The Company incurred costs related to obtaining debt financing. These costs have been capitalized and are 
being amortized to interest expense over the term of the related debt. As of June 30, 2005, the Company 
has capitalized approximately $7.0 million of costs related to its indebtedness incurred in connection with 
the IPS Transactions and subsequent issuance of additional IPSs related to the exercise of the over allotment 
option. As of June 30, 2005, the accumulated amortization of those costs totaled approximately $0.7 million. 
Deferred financing costs are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
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IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Management continually evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that the 
remaining estimated useful lives of property and equipment, contract rights and covenant not to compete 
may warrant revision or that the remaining balances may not be recoverable. If this review indicates that 
the assets will not be recoverable, as determined based on the undiscounted future cash flows from the use 
of the assets, the carrying value of the assets will be reduced to their estimated fair value.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes have been computed utilizing the asset and liability approach. Future income tax assets and 
liabilities arise from differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in  
the financial statements. Future tax assets and liabilities are determined by using substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to be in effect when the taxes will actually be paid or refunds received. A valuation allowance 
is recorded when the expected realization of a future income tax asset is not considered to be more likely 
than not. The recorded future income tax liability results from a difference between the book and tax basis 
of certain transportation equipment, other equipment and intangible assets. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognized when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 
services have been rendered, the price to the buyer is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably 
assured. The Company bills customers on a monthly basis based upon the completion of school bus routes, 
which are based on contracts or extension agreements with customers.

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company generally accounts for derivatives on an accrual basis. Derivatives that are not hedges are 
recorded at fair value on the balance sheet. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement.  
If the derivative is designated as a hedge, the fair value is recorded in the income statement when the 
hedged item is recognized in income. The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking these 
transactions. The Company assesses, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative is 
highly effective as hedge.  
SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is a provider of school transportation and management services  
to public and private schools in North America. The Company operates in one segment, the school bus 
transportation industry.

MINORITY INTEREST

Minority interest consists of the Class B common shares of STA Holdings retained by the existing investors 
in STA Holdings upon the close of the IPS Offering. The Class B common shares represent a 6.4% interest 
in STA Holdings at June 30, 2005.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earning per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period.

SEASONALITY

School bus transportation revenue has historically been seasonal, based on the school calendar and holiday 
schedule. During the summer school break, revenue is derived primarily from summer camps and private 
charter services. Since schools are not in session, there is no school bus transportation revenue. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



41

STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF AMERICA LTD. 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

3 — Acquisition

In connection with the IPS Transactions, STA acquired all of the issued and outstanding Class A common 
shares of STA Holdings, representing an 85.1% interest in STA Holdings, and STA ULC acquired all of the 
preferred shares of STA Holdings. Upon the closing of the IPS Offering, the existing investors in STA Holdings 
retained all of the issued and outstanding shares of Class B and Class C common stock of STA Holdings, 
representing a 14.9% minority interest in STA Holdings at December 31, 2004. 

The acquisition of the common shares of STA Holdings has been accounted for under the purchase method 
of accounting. The net purchase price of the STA Holdings acquisition was approximately $132.9 million. 
The final allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
December 21, 2004 is as follows:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Current assets, less current liabilities       $ 11,980
Property and equipment        68,639
Other assets        1,242
Intangible assets        52,100
Equipment financing        (153)
Promissory notes due to former owners        (876)
Future income taxes        (28,532)
Minority interest        (15,511)

Subtotal         88,889
Goodwill         44,045

Total         $ 132,934

The allocation of the purchase price is based on a third party valuation. The final allocation of the purchase 
price resulted in a decrease in current assets less current liabilities of $0.6 million, a decrease in property  
and equipment of $14.4 million, a decrease in other assets of $0.7 million, an increase in identifiable 
intangible assets of $13.7 million and an increase in goodwill of $2.0 million. Amounts allocated to goodwill 
and other intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes, and accordingly, future tax liabilities have 
been recorded. Intangible assets principally represent the values of contract rights of $30.5 million that 
will be amortized over 21 years, covenants not to compete of $10.6 million that will be amortized over 
estimated useful lives of 2 to 3 years and tradenames of $11.0 million with indefinite lives. 

In connection with the exercise of the over allotment option and issuance of additional IPSs on January 7, 
2005 (see Note 1), net proceeds of $8,854 were used to repurchase and cancel all of STA Holdings’ Class C 
common shares. Upon the purchase of all of the Class C common shares, STA’s ownership percentage in 
STA Holdings increased to 93.6%, resulting in a reduction of minority interest from the issuance of 
additional IPSs. 
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4 — Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at June 30, 2005:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Land and buildings       $ 423
Transportation equipment        68,166
Leasehold improvements        232
Other machinery and equipment        895

           69,716
Less accumulated depreciation        (8,843)

          $ 60,873

5 — Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition detailed in Note 3 consist of the following:

 Gross Accumulated Net Amortization
Thousands of U.S. Dollars Amount Amortization Amount Period (Years)

Contract rights $ 30,500 $ 770 $ 29,730  21
Covenants not to compete  10,600  2,478  8,122 2 – 3
Tradenames   11,000   —  11,000  None 
          (Indefinite Life)

Total   $ 52,100  $ 3,248 $ 48,852

  
6 — Income Taxes 

The tax provision reported in the consolidated financial statements for the period from December 21, 2004 
to June 30, 2005 is made up of the following components:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Federal:     
 Current       $ 29
 Future        (1,184)

           (1,155)
State and local:     
 Current        71
 Future        (334)

           (263)

Total provision       $ (1,418)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The difference between the effective rate reflected in the provision for income taxes and the amount determined 
by applying the statutory rate to income before income taxes for the period from December 21, 2004 to 
June 30, 2005 is analyzed below:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Provision for income taxes at statutory rate       $ (1,262)
State income taxes, net of federal effect        (200)
Other         44

          $ (1,418)

The components of future income tax balances are as follows:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Future tax liabilities:    
 Intangibles       $ (14,842)
 Difference in book and tax basis of property and equipment     (21,015)

Total future tax liabilities        (35,857)

Future tax assets:    
 Accrued expenses, allowance for doubtful accounts and other     401
 Net operating loss carryforwards        8,442

Total future tax assets        8,843

Net future tax liabilities       $ (27,014)

At June 30, 2005, STA Holdings has available net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $21.6 million 
expiring in the years 2013 through 2019.

7 — Debt

Indebtedness of the Company at June 30, 2005 includes the following:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars   Current Long-Term

New Credit Agreement        
 Term loan facility     $ — $ 31,000
 Revolving credit facility      —  5,375
 Acquisition loan facility      —  600
Equipment financing      100  49
Promissory notes due to former owners; interest at 7%     309  475
Subordinated Notes and Separate Subordinated Notes     —  48,233

        $ 409 $ 85,732
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Maturities of long-term debt are as follows:
 New  Due to 
 Credit Equipment Former Subordinated 
Thousands of U.S. Dollars Agreement Financing Owners Debt

       
Year ending June 30,
 2006  $ — $ 100 $ 309 $ —
 2007   —  49  305  —
 2008   36,975  —  110  —
 2009   —  —  60  —
 2010   —  —  —  —
 Thereafter  —  —  —  48,233

    $ 36,975 $ 149 $ 784  $ 48,233

      

NEW CREDIT AGREEMENT

The New Credit Agreement includes a $31.0 million term loan, a $25.0 million revolving loan facility, and a 
$15.0 million acquisition loan facility. Borrowings under the New Credit Agreement may be Base Rate Loans or 
Eurodollar Loans, as defined in the New Credit Agreement. Base Rate Loans bear interest at the base rate, as 
defined in the New Credit Agreement (6.0% at June 30, 2005), plus the applicable margin (2.25% at June 30, 
2005), which ranges from 1.75% to 2.50% depending on STA Holdings’ leverage ratio on the pricing date. 

Eurodollar Loans bear interest at the adjusted LIBOR rate, as defined in the New Credit Agreement 
(3.4% at June 30, 2005), plus the applicable margin (3.75% on revolving loans and 4.0% on acquisition 
loans at June 30, 2005), which ranges from 3.25% to 4.00% depending on STA Holdings’ leverage ratio  
on the pricing date. Borrowings under the New Credit Agreement are collateralized by the unencumbered 
assets of STA Holdings and its domestic subsidiaries, and certain shares of the capital stock of STA Holdings 
and the capital stock of each of its subsidiaries. In addition, payment and performance of the obligations 
under the New Credit Agreement are guaranteed by each of STA Holdings’ domestic subsidiaries. The 
New Credit Agreement contains various covenants that, among other things, require STA Holdings to 
maintain certain defined leverage and coverage ratios.

In connection with the IPS Transactions described above, the Company entered into two interest rate 
cap agreements (the “Interest Rate Hedge”) to hedge its interest rate exposure on the term loan facility 
($31.0 million notional amount). The Interest Rate Hedge has the effect of capping the interest rate on this 
indebtedness at a LIBOR rate of 2.55% through December 15, 2005 and 3.70% from December 16, 2005 
through December 15, 2007, plus the applicable margin per the New Credit Agreement.

The maturity dates and other significant terms of the Interest Rate Hedge match those of the underlying 
indebtedness. The Interest Rate Hedge is designated as a cash flow hedge, and is an effective hedge of the 
interest rate risk with no ineffectiveness. Any changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedge are deferred 
and not recognized until the hedged transactions are recorded in income. The fair value of the Interest 
Rate Hedge was $0.5 million at June 30, 2005.

SUBORDINATED NOTES AND SEPARATE SUBORDINATED NOTES

The Notes are denominated in Canadian dollars with an aggregate principal amount of Cdn $59,105. Interest 
on the Notes accrues at the rate of 14% per annum and the notes are due in 12 years. Upon maturity the 
principal amount of the Notes will be payable in Canadian dollars. Interest on the Notes is payable monthly, 
with the first interest payment made on February 15, 2005. On or after the fifth anniversary of the issuance 
of the Notes, the Company may redeem the notes for the principal amount plus a premium that declines 
over time.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Prior to the fifth anniversary of the closing of the offering, STA ULC will be permitted, at its election, to 
defer interest payments on the Notes, if and for so long as the Interest Coverage Ratio under the Note Indenture 
of the Company for the most recent 12-month period ending on the last day of any month, is less than the 
Interest Deferral Threshold (as defined in the Note Indenture), unless a default in payment of interest, 
principal or premium, if any, on the Notes has occurred and is continuing, or any other Event of Default 
with respect to the Notes has occurred and is continuing and the Subordinated Notes have been accelerated 
as a result of the occurrence of such Event of Default (any such period, an “Interest Deferral Period”). 
Interest payments on the Notes will not be deferred under this provision for more than 24 months in the 
aggregate or beyond the fifth anniversary of the closing of the IPS Offering. 

In addition, after the fifth anniversary of the closing of the offering, STA ULC may at its election defer 
interest on the Notes on not more than eight occasions for not more than eight months per occasion  
(each, an “Interest Deferral Period”) by delivering to the Trustee a copy of a resolution of STA ULC’s board 
of directors certified by an officer’s certificate of STA ULC to the effect that, based upon a good faith 
determination of STA ULC’s board of directors, such deferral is reasonably necessary for bona fide cash 
management purposes, or to reduce the likelihood of or avoid a default on any Senior Indebtedness; 
provided no such deferral may be commenced and any ongoing deferral shall cease, if a default in payment 
of interest, principal or premium, if any, on the Notes has occurred and is continuing or any other Event  
of Default with respect to the Notes has occurred and is continuing and the Notes have been accelerated  
as a result of the occurrence of such Event of Default. No Interest Deferral Period may commence unless 
and until all interest deferred pursuant to any preceding Interest Deferral Period, together with interest 
thereon, has been paid in full. 

Deferred interest on the Notes will bear interest at the same rate as the stated rate on the Notes, compounded 
monthly, until paid in full. Following the end of any Interest Deferral Period, STA ULC will be obligated to 
resume monthly payments of interest on the Notes, including interest on deferred interest. All interest 
deferred prior to the fifth anniversary of the closing of the offering, including interest accrued on deferred 
interest, must be repaid on the fifth anniversary of the closing of the offering. All interest deferred after the 
fifth anniversary of the closing of the offering, including interest accrued on deferred interest, must be 
repaid on or before maturity, provided that STA ULC must pay all deferred interest and accrued interest 
thereon in full prior to deferring interest on a subsequent occasion. STA ULC may prepay all or part of the 
deferred interest, at any time other than during an Interest Deferral Period. 

During any Interest Deferral Period, or so long as any deferred interest remains unpaid, and under 
other circumstances described below, the Company will not be permitted to pay any dividends or make 
any distribution to holders of its common shares, or make certain other restricted payments. The New 
Credit Agreement contains limitations on the Company’s ability to make distributions to STA ULC to 
enable it to prepay deferred interest on the Notes. 

PROMISSORY NOTES DUE TO FORMER OWNERS

Promissory notes due to former owners represent notes issued by STA Holdings in connection with its 
prior acquisitions of various businesses.

In the event of liquidation of the Company, payment of principal and interest on indebtedness to the 
former owners are subordinate to the payment of any senior debt of the Company.
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8 — Common Shares 

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common and preferred 
shares. As at June 30, 2005, 12,764,554 common shares are issued and outstanding, all of which are 
represented by IPSs, and no preferred shares are issued and outstanding.

On December 21, 2004, the Company issued 11,604,140 no par value common shares for net proceeds  
of $52,021 (Cdn $64,086) as part of the IPS Offering. On January 7, 2005, the Company issued an additional 
1,160,414 no par value common shares for net proceeds of $5,448 (Cdn $6,681) in connection with the 
exercise of the over allotment option.

The loss per share for the period presented was calculated on the basis of 11,604,140 common shares 
outstanding from December 21, 2004 through January 6, 2005 and 12,764,554 from January 7, 2005 
through June 30, 2005.

As at June 30, 2005, dividends declared totaled $3.4 million, representing $3.0 million in dividends on 
the Company’s Class A common stock and $0.4 million in dividends on STA Holdings’ Class B common 
stock. Of these amounts, dividends paid through June 30, 2005 amounted to $2.5 million and $0.3 million 
for the Company and STA Holdings, respectively. The remaining $0.5 million of dividends accrued were 
paid on July 15, 2005. The accrued dividends are recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheet.

9 — Minority Interest

Minority interest at June 30, 2005 represents the Class B common shares of STA Holdings retained by the 
existing investors in STA Holdings upon the close of the IPS Offering on December 21, 2004 and after the 
exercise of the over allotment option on January 7, 2005 (see Note 1). The Class B common shares represent 
a 6.4% interest in STA Holdings at June 30, 2005. Each Class B common share entitles the holder to receive 
distributions from STA Holdings approximately equivalent to the distributions per IPS received by holders 
of IPSs. Two years from the date of closing of the IPS Offering, the holders of the Class B common shares of 
STA Holdings have the right to request that STA Holdings enter into good faith negotiations to repurchase 
their shares. STA Holdings has the right to purchase for cancellation the Class B common shares in certain 
circumstances. Dividends declared on the Class B common shares totaled $0.4 million for the period  
from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005, which were recorded as a reduction of minority interest in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

10 — Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain facilities under non-cancellable operating leases. Rent expense totaled $1.3 million 
for the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005. The terms of these and other leases expire at 
various times through 2018. 

The following represents future minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases:

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Year ending June 30,
 2006        $ 2,354 
 2007         1,710
 2008         1,128
 2009         789
 2010 and thereafter        2,669

          $ 8,650

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11 — Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a qualified defined contribution benefit plan, which allows for voluntary pre-tax  
contributions by the employees. The Company makes a matching contribution on behalf of the employees. 
It is anticipated that the Company will incur minimal expenses on an annual basis related to the plan.

12 — Related Party Transactions

The Company utilizes Coast Cities Truck Sales, Inc. (“Coast Cities”), a transportation equipment dealer, 
primarily to assist in procurement and disposal of the Company’s fleet under the direction of the Company’s 
President and COO. Coast Cities also provides consulting services to the Company, assisting with fleet 
valuations in its acquisition efforts. These fleet valuation services are provided free of charge. Coast Cities 
is a company controlled by a family member of the Company’s Chairman and CEO. The fleet procurement 
and disposal services are provided on a non-contractual basis for a commission equal to 1% of the value of 
the purchase and sale price of the Company’s vehicles. The Company believes that this arrangement would 
approximate the cost of an arm’s length arrangement of this nature. The Company paid $21 to Coast Cities 
during the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005.

13 — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course of business, most of 
which involve claims for personal injury and property damage incurred in connection with its operations. 
The Company maintains automobile, workers’ compensation and general liability insurance coverage with 
deductible amounts for each incident that is the financial responsibility of the Company. The Company 
accrues for estimated deductible amounts when the incident occurs. The Company’s insurance program  
is designed to minimize the financial risk associated with claims. The primary risks in the Company’s 
operations are bodily injury and property damage to third parties. 

In the opinion of management, uninsured losses related to deductible amounts resulting from the 
ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows. 

As part of collateral agreements supporting its insurance programs, the Company has $1.3 million of 
letters of credit outstanding at June 30, 2005. Of this amount, $0.4 million is supported by cash deposits, 
which is included in other assets in the June 30, 2005 consolidated balance sheet.

Certain of the Company’s contracts contain performance or surety bond requirements. These bonds are 
written by certified surety underwriters. For the most recent school year, outstanding performance bonds 
aggregated $21.5 million. There are no collateral requirements for these surety bonds.

14 — Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts

The Notes are denominated in Canadian dollars. As such, payment of the Notes upon maturity will be payable 
in Canadian dollars. The Company has not entered into any hedge agreement with respect to currency 
fluctuations on the principal amount of the notes due upon maturity in 2016.

Distributions on the IPSs are also denominated in Canadian dollars. To mitigate the exposure to currency 
fluctuations, STA Holdings entered into a five-year agreement at the time of the IPS Offering, which consisted 
of 60 monthly forward foreign exchange contracts (the “Forward Contracts”), of which 53 are still open as 
at August 15, 2005, at a rate of Cdn $1.2275 to U.S. $1.00 for the total amount of the anticipated monthly 
IPS distributions through January 2010. In May 2005, the Company entered into four additional monthly 
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forward foreign exchange contracts at a rate of Cdn $1.2295 to U.S. $1.00 for the total amount of currently 
anticipated monthly IPS distributions from February 2010 through May 2010. Under the terms of these 
contracts, STA Holdings is required to deliver approximately $1.0 million U.S. dollars on or around the 
14th of each month in exchange for the Canadian dollars specified above. STA Holdings was not required 
to deposit any collateral with regard to these contracts.

The Forward Contracts do not qualify as a cash flow hedge for accounting purposes, and the change  
in the fair value of the Forward Contracts is recorded in income. The fair value of the Forward Contracts 
represented an unrealized gain of $1.0 million at June 30, 2005 of which $60 is recorded in other current 
assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The Forward Contracts have a notional amount of approximately 
$57.0 million and have been entered into with a major Canadian bank as counterparty. The risk associated 
with the Forward Contracts is the cost of replacing these instruments in the event of default by the 
counterparty. Management believes that this risk is remote.

15 — Supplemental Cash Flow information

The Company paid $4.6 million in cash interest during the period from December 21, 2004 to June 30, 2005. 
No cash taxes were paid during the period.

16 — Comparative Figures

The Company was formed on September 22, 2004 and did not complete its initial issuance of units until 
December 21, 2004. Accordingly, there are no comparative figures for previous periods.

17 — Subsequent Events

The Company amended the New Credit Agreement subsequent to June 30, 2005 to (i) provide for an additional 
$5.0 million of capacity under a current acquisition loan facility, (ii) establish a new Canadian $3.0 million 
revolving loan facility and a Canadian $10.0 million acquisition loan facility and (iii) permit consistent 
payment of interest and dividends during the initial 12-month period post the IPS Offering based on the 
seasonality of the business. The new Canadian dollar loan facilities were established to finance the Company’s 
operating entrance into the Canadian market.

On July 1, 2005, the Company closed its acquisition of certain assets of A&E West Coast Transport, 
Inc., providing the Company with new revenue contracts in the San Jose / Silicon Valley area of California. 
On July 29, 2005, the Company closed its acquisition of the school bus division of Ayr Coach Lines, 
located in Waterloo, Ontario. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $8.6 million. The 
purchase price consisted of $8.2 million in cash and $0.4 million in promissory notes. The preliminary fair 
value of the net total identifiable assets related to these acquisitions was $5.0 million (which primarily 
consists of transportation equipment), and goodwill approximated $3.6 million. 

 In August 2005, STA Holdings entered into three additional monthly forward foreign exchange 
contracts at a rate of Cdn $1.1618 to U.S. $1.00 for the total amount of currently anticipated monthly IPS 
distributions from June 2010 through August 2010. Under the terms of the contracts, STA Holdings is 
required to deliver approximately $1.05 million U.S. dollars on or around the 14th of each month in 
exchange for approximately $1.22 million Canadian dollars.
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